
Y Pwyllgor Cyllid 
 

Lleoliad: 

Ystafell Bwyllgora 2 - y Senedd 

 

 

 

Dyddiad: 

Dydd Mercher, 14 Mai 2014  

 

Amser: 

08.30 

 

I gael rhagor o wybodaeth, cysylltwch â:  

Bethan Davies 

Clerc y Pwyllgor 

029 2089 8120 

PwyllgorCyllid@cymru.gov.uk  

  

 

Agenda 

 

 

(CYTUNODD Y PWYLLGOR YN Y CYFARFOD AR 8 MAI 2014 I GYNNAL EITEM 1 YN 

BREIFAT) 

1 Ymchwiliad i Cyllid Cymru: Trafod yr adroddiad drafft (08:30-09:00)   

FIN(4)-09-14 (papur 1) 
  

2 Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon (09:00)  

3 Papurau i’w nodi (09:00) (Tudalennau 1 - 2) 

4 Bil Cymru: Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol (09:05-10:00) 

(Tudalennau 3 - 57)  

FIN(4)-09-14(papur2) 
Bil Cymru, (fel y'i diwygiwyd yn y Pwyllgor 7 Mai, 2014) 

Briff cyfreithiol 

Briff ymchwil 

  

------------------------Pecyn dogfennau cyhoeddus ------------------------



Jane Hutt AC, y Gweinidog Cyllid 

Andrew Jeffreys, Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr Buddsoddi Cyfalaf Strategol, Llywodraeth 

Cymru 

Gareth Morgan, Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr Dros Dro Diwygio Ariannol, Llywodraeth Cymru 

Jeff Andrews, Cynghorydd Polisi Arbenigol 

5 Arfer gorau mewn prosesau cyllidebol: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1 (10:00-

11:00) (Tudalennau 58 - 67)  

FIN(4)-09-14(papur 3) 

Briff ymchwil 

  

Jane Hutt AC, y Gweinidog Cyllid 

Andrew Jeffreys, Dirprwy Gyfarwyddwr Buddsoddi Cyfalaf Strategol, Llywodraeth 

Cymru 

Matt Denham Jones, Pennaeth Rheoli a Chofnodi Cyllidebau, Llywodraeth Cymru 

Jeff Andrews, Cynghorydd Polisi Arbenigol 
  

(Egwyl 11.00-11.15) 

6 Arfer gorau mewn prosesau cyllidebol: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 2 (11:15-

12:15) (Tudalennau 68 - 77)  

FIN(4)-09-014(papur 4) 

Briff ymchwil 

  

Dr Joachim Wehner - London School of Economics 

  

7 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y cyhoedd 

o'r cyfarfod ar gyfer y canlynol: (12:15)   

Eitem 8 

  

8 Arfer gorau mewn prosesau cyllidebol: Trafod y dystiolaeth (12:15-

12:30)  



 

Y Pwyllgor Cyllid 

 

Lleoliad: Ystafell Bwyllgora 2 - y Senedd 
 

 

  
Dyddiad:  Dydd Iau, 8 Mai 2014 

 

  
Amser:  09.00 - 10.15 

 

  Gellir gwylio’r cyfarfod ar Senedd TV yn: 

http://www.senedd.tv/archiveplayer.jsf?v=en_300000_08_05_2014&t=0&l=en 

 

 

 

Cofnodion Cryno: 

 

   
Aelodau’r Cynulliad:  Jocelyn Davies AC (Cadeirydd) 

Peter Black AC 

Christine Chapman AC 

Paul Davies AC 

Mike Hedges AC 

Alun Ffred Jones AC 

Julie Morgan AC 

 

  

   
Tystion:  Isobel Garner, Wales Audit Officer 

Steve O’Donoghue, Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 

Ian Summers, Finance and Governance Advisor 

Kevin Thomas, Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cynorthwyol, 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 

Huw Vaughan Thomas, Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru, 

Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru 

 

  

   
Staff y Pwyllgor:  Bethan Davies (Clerc) 

Meriel Singleton (Ail Clerc) 

Claire Griffiths (Dirprwy Glerc) 

Richard Bettley (Ymchwilydd) 

Joanest Jackson (Cynghorydd Cyfreithiol) 

 

  

Tudalen y pecyn 1

Eitem 3

http://www.senedd.tv/archiveplayer.jsf?v=en_300000_08_05_2014&t=0&l=en


 

1 Cyflwyniadau, ymddiheuriadau a dirprwyon  

1.1       Croesawodd y Cadeirydd yr Aelodau a'r cyhoedd i'r cyfarfod. 

1.2       Cafwyd ymddiheuriadau gan Ann Jones. 

2 Papurau i’w nodi  

2.1 Nodwyd y papurau.  

 

3 Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru: Trafod y cynllun ffioedd, graddfeydd ffioedd, 

y cynllun blynyddol a'r cod ymarfer  

3.1 Cyflwynodd Swyddfa Archwilio Cymru ac Archwilydd Cyffredinol Cymru y Cynllun 

Ffioedd, Cynllun Blynyddol 2014-15 a'r Cod Ymarfer i'r Pwyllgor ac atebasant 

gwestiynau ar y papurau. 

3.1 Yn ystod rhan breifat y cyfarfod, cytunodd yr Aelodau i gymeradwyo'r dogfennau 

hyn a bydd y Cadeirydd yn ysgrifennu yn unol â hynny.  

 

4 Cynnig o dan Reol Sefydlog 17.42 i benderfynu gwahardd y cyhoedd o'r 

cyfarfod ar gyfer y canlynol:  

4.1 Derbyniwyd y cynnig.  

 

5 Arfer Gorau mewn Prosesau Cyllidebol  

5.1 Cafodd y Pwyllgor adroddiad briffio gan Ian Summers, Cynghorwr y Pwyllgor, fel 

rhan o'r ymchwiliad i Arfer Gorau mewn Prosesau Cyllidebol  
  

 

Tudalen y pecyn 2



 
 
 

1 

MEMORANDWM CYDSYNIAD DEDDFWRIAETHOL 
 

BIL CYMRU 
 

1. Mae‘r Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol hwn yn cael ei osod o dan Reol 
Sefydlog 29.2. Mae Rheol Sefydlog 29 yn rhagnodi bod rhaid i Femorandwm 
Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol gael ei osod, ac y caniateir i Gynnig Cydsyniad 
Deddfwriaethol gael ei gyflwyno, gerbron Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru os bydd un 
o Filiau Senedd y Deyrnas Unedig yn gwneud darpariaeth mewn perthynas â 
Chymru at ddiben sy‘n dod o fewn cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad 
Cenedlaethol neu sy‘n addasu‘r cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol hwnnw. Mae‘r Bil hwn 
yn addasu cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad, yn unol â‘r disgrifiad ychwanegol 
isod.  Mae hefyd yn gwneud darpariaeth y mae‘n rhaid i Ddatganiad Ysgrifenedig 
mewn perthynas â hi gael ei osod yn unol â Rheol Sefydlog 30, ac felly dylai‘r 
Memorandwm hwn gael ei ddarllen ar y cyd â‘r Datganiad Ysgrifenedig, sydd wedi‘i 
gyflwyno yr un pryd. 

 
2. Cafodd Bil Cymru (―y Bil‖) ei gyflwyno yn Nhŷ‘r Cyffredin ar 20 Mawrth.  Mae‘r Bil, y 

gwelliannau a gyflwynwyd iddo a‘r Asesiad Effaith ar gael yma: 
Bill documents — Wales Bill 2013-14 — UK Parliament 
 
Mae‘r Papur Gorchymyn ‗Bil Cymru: Atebolrwydd a Grymuso Ariannol‘, a 
gyhoeddwyd ochr yn ochr â Bil Cymru, ar gael yma: 
www.gov.uk/government/publications/wales-bill 

 
Crynodeb o’r Bil a’i Amcanion Polisi 
 
3. Noddir y Bil gan Swyddfa Cymru.  Amcanion polisi Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig 

ynglŷn â‘r Bil yw peri bod Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru (―y Cynulliad‖) a 
Llywodraeth Cymru yn fwy atebol i bobl Cymru am godi‘r arian y maent yn ei wario, a 
gwella system etholiadau‘r Cynulliad. 

 
4. Mae i‘r Bil bedair rhan: 

 

 Mae Rhan 1, cymalau 1 i 5, yn gwneud newidiadau i Gynulliad Cenedlaethol 
Cymru a Llywodraeth Cynulliad Cymru. 

 

 Mae Rhan 2, cymalau 6 i 22, yn sefydlu trefniadau newydd ynghylch trethi a 
benthyca.  Mae‘n datganoli‘r cyfrifoldeb dros dreth ar drafodion tir a gwaredu 
gwastraff i safleoedd tirlenwi, yn creu pwerau benthyca, ac yn creu‘r 
posibilrwydd, yn amodol ar gymeradwyaeth mewn refferendwm, o ostyngiad o 
10 ceiniog mewn treth incwm ar draws pob band treth, ynghyd â‘r pŵer i‘r 
Cynulliad drwy benderfyniad osod cyfradd treth incwm Gymreig i wneud iawn 
am y gostyngiad.  Mae hefyd yn creu‘r posibilrwydd o drethi datganoledig 
newydd, ac yn rhoi cymhwysedd i ddeddfu ar weithdrefnau‘r gyllideb. 

 

 Mae Rhan 3, cymalau 23 a 24, yn ymdrin â dau fater amrywiol: terfynau ar 
ddyledion y cyfrif refeniw tai, a‘r berthynas rhwng Comisiwn y Gyfraith a 
sefydliadau datganoledig yng Nghymru. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 3

Eitem 4

http://services.parliament.uk/bills/2013-14/wales/documents.html
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/wales-bill


 
 
 

2 

 Mae Rhan 4, cymalau 25 i 29, yn nodi materion ynglŷn â chychwyn a rhychwant 
a materion eraill. 

 

 Mae Atodlen 1 yn rhoi manylion am y refferendwm treth, ac mae Atodlen 2 yn 
ymwneud â diwygiadau o ganlyniad i ddatganoli treth ar drafodion tir. 

 
Y darpariaethau yn y Bil y gofynnir am gydsyniad iddyn nhw 
 
5. Mae‘r darpariaethau yn y Bil sy‘n addasu cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad ac 

y gofynnir am gydsyniad iddyn nhw i‘w gweld yng nghymalau 6, 7, 14, 17 ac 21. 
 
Cymal 6: Trethu: rhagarweiniol 
 
6. Mae Cymal 6 yn mewnosod Rhan 4A newydd (ac iddi bedair Pennod) yn Neddf 

Llywodraeth Cymru 2006 (―Deddf 2006‖) er mwyn addasu cymhwysedd y Cynulliad i 
ddarparu pwerau ariannol dros drethi sydd wedi‘u datganoli‘n llawn. 

 
7. Mae‘r cymal yn disgrifio strwythur y Rhan 4A newydd, yn diffinio ―trethi wedi‘u 

datganoli‖ ac yn darparu‘r Bennod 1 ragarweiniol.  Mae‘n esbonio y câi cymhwysedd 
deddfwriaethol y Cynulliad ei addasu drwy ei alluogi i wneud y canlynol: 
 

 cyflwyno treth ddatganoledig newydd ar drafodion yn ymwneud â buddiannau 
mewn tir (Rhan 4 Pennod 3 – yr ymdrinnir â hi isod o dan Gymal 14); 

 

 cyflwyno treth ddatganoledig newydd ar waredu gwastraff i safleoedd tirlenwi 
(Rhan 4 Pennod 4 – yr ymdrinnir â hi isod o dan Gymal 17). 

 
8. Pe bai‘r Cynulliad yn penderfynu sefydlu corff i gasglu a rheoli ei drethi datganoledig, 

byddai Cymal 6 (adran 116B) yn rhoi cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol i‘r Cynulliad i 
benodi gweision sifil i‘r corff hwnnw, ar yr amod bod eu swyddogaethau‘n ymwneud â 
chasglu a rheoli trethi datganoledig a/neu faterion cyllid llywodraeth leol.  Ni waeth i 
bwy y byddai‘r Cynulliad yn rhoi‘r pŵer i benodi‘r gweision sifil hynny, Gweinidogion 
Cymru fyddai‘n talu costau eu penodi. 

 
9. Gall newidiadau i‘r rhan 4A newydd, gan gynnwys datganoli trethi datganoledig 

ychwanegol i Gymru, gael eu diwygio drwy Orchymyn yn y Cyfrin Gyngor, er y byddai 
hynny‘n amodol ar y weithdrefn penderfyniad cadarnhaol yn y Cynulliad ac yn nau 
Dŷ‘r Senedd cyn y gallai ddod yn gyfraith. 

 
10. Byddai Cymal 6 yn diwygio‘r cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol i sicrhau na fyddai‘r 

eithriadau presennol (sy‘n cynnwys, er enghraifft, yswiriant cerbydau modur) yn atal 
darpariaethau ynghylch trethi ar y materion hynny, pe bai Gorchymyn yn cael ei 
wneud yn y dyfodol i ddatganoli trethi ychwanegol i Gymru. 

 
Cymal 7: Gwelliannau ynglŷn â‘r Comisiynwyr Cyllid a Thollau 
 
11. Mae Cymal 7 yn cynnwys gwelliannau i Rannau 2 a 3 o Atodlen 7 i Ddeddf 2006 i 

ganiatáu i‘r Cynulliad, gyda chydsyniad Trysorlys EM, ddileu neu addasu 
swyddogaethau CThEM pan fo‘r swyddogaethau hynny‘n ymwneud â threthi 
datganoledig. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 4



 
 
 

3 

Cymal 14: Treth Gymreig ar drafodion ynglŷn â buddiannau mewn tir  
 
12. Ar hyn o bryd mae treth dir y doll stamp yn daladwy wrth brynu neu drosglwyddo 

eiddo neu dir yn y Deyrnas Unedig os yw‘r swm a dalwyd uwchben trothwy penodol 
(mae‘r Alban wedi‘i hepgor gan Ddeddf yr Alban 2012, er nad yw‘r gwelliannau hynny 
wedi dod i rym eto). Byddai Cymal 14 yn caniatáu i‘r Cynulliad gyflwyno ei dreth 
trafodion tir ei hun, ac mae‘n cyplysu cyflwyno‘r dreth Gymreig newydd â 
datgymhwyso treth dir y doll stamp yng Nghymru. 

 
13. Mae Cymal 14 yn cynnwys Pennod 3 o‘r Rhan 4a newydd i‘w mewnosod yn Neddf 

2006 sy‘n disgrifio‘r dreth a phryd y gallai fod yn daladwy.  Mae hefyd yn rhestru‘r 
rhai a fyddai‘n esempt rhag talu‘r dreth: 
 

 yn y Llywodraeth: un o Weinidogion y Goron; Gweinidogion Cymru, Prif 
Weinidog Cymru a‘r Cwnsler Cyffredinol; Gweinidogion yr Alban; ac un o 
adrannau Gogledd Iwerddon; a 

 

 yn y Senedd: Swyddog Corfforaethol Tŷ‘r Arglwyddi; Swyddog Corfforaethol 
Tŷ‘r Cyffredin; Comisiwn y Cynulliad; Corff Corfforaethol Senedd yr Alban; a 
Chomisiwn Cynulliad Gogledd Iwerddon. 

 
Cymal 17: Treth Gymreig ar wastraff a waredir i safleoedd tirlenwi 
 
14. Ar hyn o bryd mae treth dirlenwi yn cael ei chodi am waredu gwastraff i safleoedd 

tirlenwi yng Nghymru a Lloegr neu yng Ngogledd Iwerddon (mae tirlenwi yn yr Alban 
wedi‘i hepgor gan Ddeddf yr Alban 2012, er nad yw‘r gwelliannau hynny wedi dod i 
rym eto).  Mae Cymal 17 yn darparu‘r mecanwaith i ganiatáu i‘r Cynulliad gyflwyno‘i 
dreth ei hun ar waredu gwastraff i safleoedd tirlenwi. 

 
15. Mae Cymal 17 yn cyflwyno Pennod 4 newydd yn Rhan 4A o Ddeddf 2006, sy‘n nodi 

cwmpas pŵer Llywodraeth Cymru i gyflwyno treth ar waredu gwastraff i safleoedd 
tirlenwi yng Nghymru.  Mae adran 116N(1) yn darparu y byddai treth a gâi ei chodi 
am waredu gwastraff i safleoedd tirlenwi yng Nghymru yn dreth ddatganoledig ac 
mae adran 116N(2) yn esbonio pa bryd y mae gwarediad yn warediad i safle tirlenwi.  
Mae is-adran (2) yn sicrhau na ellid codi‘r dreth ddatganoledig ar warediadau y 
byddai treth dirlenwi‘r Deyrnas Unedig yn gymwys iddynt, gan gyplysu cychwyn y 
dreth ddatganoledig newydd â datgymhwyso treth dirlenwi‘r Deyrnas Unedig yng 
Nghymru. 

 
Cymal 21: Gweithdrefnau‘r gyllideb 
 
16. Byddai Cymal 21 yn rhoi cymhwysedd i‘r Cynulliad i ddeddfu ar gyfer ei weithdrefnau 

cyllideb ei hun drwy fewnosod hyn fel pwnc newydd ym mharagraff 13 o Ran 1 o 
Atodlen 7 i Ddeddf 2006.  Mae is-adran (2) o‘r cymal hefyd yn diffinio beth yw 
gweithdrefnau cyllideb. 

 
17. Byddai‘r cymal yn galluogi‘r Cynulliad i ddeddfu mewn perthynas â gweithdrefnau ar 

gyfer craffu ar gyllideb flynyddol Gweinidogion Cymru, ―personau perthnasol‖ eraill ac 
unrhyw gorff arall a fyddai‘n derbyn taliadau o Gronfa Gyfunol Cymru yn rhinwedd 
deddfiad (gan y Senedd neu gan y Cynulliad) ac mewn perthynas â phennu‘r gyllideb 

Tudalen y pecyn 5



 
 
 

4 

honno.  Er enghraifft, byddai‘n caniatáu i‘r Cynulliad basio Deddf Cyllid flynyddol yn 
lle‘r cynnig cyllideb blynyddol cyfredol. 

 
18. Gan y byddai gan y Cynulliad gymhwysedd ynglŷn â threthi datganoledig hefyd (h.y. 

trafodion yn ymwneud â buddiannau mewn tir, a gwaredu gwastraff i safleoedd 
tirlenwi), gallai gweithdrefnau‘r gyllideb gynnwys penderfynu ar y cyfraddau treth 
mewn perthynas â‘r trethi hyn, rhagolygon ynglŷn â derbyniadau treth, amrywiannau, 
benthyca at ddibenion cyfredol a dibenion cyfalaf a symiau ar gyfer ad-dalu 
benthyciadau, yn ogystal ag awdurdodi faint y câi ―personau perthnasol‖ (a ddiffinnir 
yn y Bil) ei wario. 

 
19. Er mwyn deddfu ar gyfer gweithdrefnau cyllideb newydd, mae Rhan 2 o Atodlen 7 i 

Ddeddf 2006 wedi‘i diwygio gan is-adran (3) o Gymal 21 i ganiatáu i‘r Cynulliad 
addasu‘r adrannau hynny yn Neddf 2006 sy‘n cyfeirio at broses bresennol y cynnig 
cyllideb – h.y. adrannau 119 (i‘r graddau y mae‘n ymwneud â‘r amcangyfrif o 
daliadau a ddisgrifir ac nid â dyletswydd yr Ysgrifennydd Gwladol yn is-adran (3) o‘r 
adran honno), 120(2), a 125 i 128. Gan y gall fod angen hefyd i‘r Cynulliad wneud 
addasiadau cyfyngedig i ddarpariaethau eraill yn Rhan 5 o Ddeddf 2006, mae is-
adran (3) yn mewnosod is-baragraff newydd ym mharagraff 5 o Ran 2 o Atodlen 7 
sy‘n galluogi Deddf Cynulliad i wneud diwygiadau i adrannau eraill yn Rhan 5 neu yn 
adran 159 o Ddeddf 2006 ar yr amod eu bod (a) yn atodol i ddarpariaethau mewn 
Deddf Cynulliad sy‘n ymwneud â gweithdrefnau cyllideb neu drethi datganoledig 
neu‘n ganlyniadol i ddarpariaethau o‘r fath, a (b) wedi sicrhau cydsyniad yr 
Ysgrifennydd Gwladol. 

 
20. Pe bai refferendwm yn penderfynu y dylid datganoli pwerau i amrywio cyfraddau treth 

incwm i Gymru, mater i‘r Cynulliad fyddai penderfynu a ddylai penderfyniad y 
Cynulliad i bennu cyfradd Gymreig y dreth incwm gael ei ystyried fel rhan o 
weithdrefnau‘r gyllideb neu beidio. 

 
Y sail resymegol dros ddefnyddio Bil y Deyrnas Unedig 
 
21. Ym marn Llywodraeth Cymru, mae‘n briodol ymdrin â‘r darpariaethau hyn yn y Bil 

hwn ar lefel y Deyrnas Unedig am na allai‘r darpariaethau gael eu gwneud drwy 
Ddeddf Cynulliad.  Nid yw‘r darpariaethau o fewn cymhwysedd deddfwriaethol y 
Cynulliad ar hyn o bryd, ond yn hytrach maent yn addasu‘r cymhwysedd hwnnw drwy 
ei ymestyn at y dyfodol.  Mae‘r darpariaethau yn rhoi nifer o argymhellion adroddiad 
Rhan 1 Comisiwn Silk ar waith, sef argymhellion y mae Llywodraeth Cymru wedi‘u 
derbyn yn eu cyfanrwydd. 

 
Y goblygiadau ariannol 
 
22. Mae trafodaethau yn mynd rhagddynt rhwng Llywodraeth Cymru a Llywodraeth y 

Deyrnas Unedig ynghylch cost gweithredu‘r diwygiadau ariannol a geid drwy‘r 
mesurau sydd wedi‘u cynnwys yn y Bil. 

 
23. Ochr yn ochr â chyflwyno‘r trethi Cymreig newydd (yn Ebrill 2018), byddai Trysorlys 

EM yn gostwng grant bloc Cymru i adlewyrchu pwerau newydd Llywodraeth Cymru i 
godi refeniw.  Mae trafodaethau yn mynd rhagddynt i gytuno beth fyddai lefel y 
gostyngiad hwn. 

 

Tudalen y pecyn 6



 
 
 

5 

24. Gan mai cyllideb Cymru fyddai‘n ysgwyddo‘r anwadalrwydd a gâi ei greu yn y refeniw 
o drethi wedi‘u datganoli‘n llawn, mae Bil Cymru yn rhoi‘r gallu i Lywodraeth Cymru i 
fenthyca yn y tymor byr er mwyn rheoli‘r anwadalrwydd hwn.  Mater sy‘n cael ei 
drafod ar hyn o bryd gyda Thrysorlys EM yw sut i weithredu‘r system ariannu 
gyffredinol, y byddai refeniw o‘r trethi datganoledig yn rhyngweithio ynddi â‘r grant 
bloc ac â phwerau benthyca. 

 
25. Ni ddisgwylir y byddai i‘r pwerau benthyca newydd – i reoli anwadalrwydd neu at 

ddibenion buddsoddi cyfalaf – orbenion gweinyddol sylweddol. 
 
26. Mae Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig wedi dweud mai Llywodraeth Cymru a fyddai‘n 

ysgwyddo unrhyw gostau ychwanegol ynglŷn â sefydlu trethi Cymreig newydd ar 
drafodion yn ymwneud â buddiannau mewn tir ac ar waredu gwastraff i safleoedd 
tirlenwi (yn net arbedion i Lywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig am na fyddai mwyach yn 
casglu nac yn gweinyddu treth stamp y Deyrnas Unedig na threth dirlenwi‘r Deyrnas 
Unedig yng Nghymru). Er hynny, byddai‘n gweithio‘n adeiladol gyda Llywodraeth 
Cymru i leihau gymaint â phosibl ar unrhyw gostau o‘r fath. 

 
27. O gael pleidlais ―Ie‖ mewn refferendwm i gyflwyno cyfradd treth incwm Gymreig 

newydd, mae Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig o‘r farn mai Llywodraeth Cymru a ddylai 
ysgwyddo‘r costau perthynol.  Does dim trafod wedi bod gyda Llywodraeth y Deyrnas 
Unedig ynglŷn â‘r costau hyn, ond yn ei Hasesiad Effaith ynglŷn â Bil Cymru, mae 
Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig yn dweud yr amcangyfrifwyd bod diweddaru 
systemau TG a phrosesau gweinyddol CThEM i ategu‘r newidiadau mewn pwerau 
treth incwm a gafwyd yn sgil Deddf yr Alban wedi costio tua £40-45 miliwn, ynghyd â 
chostau rhedeg blynyddol o ryw £4.2 miliwn. Er y gallai‘r boblogaeth lai, a‘r gwersi a 
ddysgwyd yn sgil y gwaith ar ran yr Alban helpu i leihau‘r costau gweithredu yng 
Nghymru, mae Llywodraeth y Deyrnas Unedig yn nodi y gallai ffactorau eraill arwain 
at gynyddu‘r costau, gan gynnwys y gweithgarwch economaidd ehangach ar y ffin 
rhwng Cymru a Lloegr (a allai gynyddu nifer yr ymholiadau), yr angen i ehangu gallu 
llinell gymorth Gymraeg CThEM, a‘r costau cydymffurfio ychwanegol a fyddai‘n 
gysylltiedig ag ymdrin â rhai cynlluniau rhyddhad treth ac incwm megis Rhodd 
Cymorth a‘r rhyddhad treth ar gyfer cynlluniau pensiwn. 

 
 
 
 
Jane Hutt AC 
Y Gweinidog Cyllid 
Mai 2014 

Tudalen y pecyn 7



Bill 205 55/3

Wales Bill

[AS AMENDED IN COMMITTEE]

CONTENTS

PART 1

THE ASSEMBLY AND WELSH GOVERNMENT

National Assembly for Wales
1 Frequency of Assembly ordinary general elections
2 Removal of restriction on standing for election for both constituency and

electoral region
3 MPs to be disqualified from membership of Assembly

Welsh Government
4 The Welsh Government
5 First Minister: removal of power to designate after dissolution of Assembly

PART 2

FINANCE

Introductory
6 Taxation: introductory
7 Amendments relating to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

Welsh rate of income tax
8 Welsh rate of income tax
9 Welsh basic, higher and additional rates of income tax

10 Amendments to the definition of a Scottish taxpayer

Referendum on income tax provisions
11 Referendum about commencement of income tax provisions
12 Proposal for referendum by Assembly
13 Commencement of the income tax provisions etc if majority in favour

Tudalen y pecyn 8



Wales Billii

Welsh tax on land transactions
14 Welsh tax on transactions involving interests in land
15 Disapplication of UK stamp duty land tax
16 Information on Welsh land transactions

Welsh tax on disposals to landfill
17 Welsh tax on disposals to landfill
18 Disapplication of UK landfill tax

Borrowing
19 Borrowing by the Welsh Ministers
20 Repeal of existing borrowing power

Budgetary procedures
21 Budgetary procedures

Reports
22 Reports on the implementation and operation of this Part

PART 3

MISCELLANEOUS

23 Local housing authorities: limits on housing revenue account debt
24 The work of the Law Commission so far as relating to Wales

PART 4

GENERAL

25 Orders
26 Interpretation
27 Power to make supplementary, consequential, etc provision
28 Commencement
29 Extent and short title

Schedule 1 — Referendum about commencement of income tax provisions
Schedule 2 — Welsh tax on land transactions: consequential amendments

Tudalen y pecyn 9



Bill 205 55/3

Wales Bill
Part 1 — The Assembly and Welsh Government

1

A

B I L L
[AS AMENDED IN COMMITTEE]

TO

Make provision about elections to and membership of the National Assembly
for Wales; to make provision about the Welsh Assembly Government; to make
provision about the setting by the Assembly of a rate of income tax to be paid
by Welsh taxpayers and about the devolution of taxation powers to the
Assembly; to make related amendments to Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998; to
make provision about borrowing by the Welsh Ministers; to make
miscellaneous amendments in the law relating to Wales; and for connected
purposes.

E IT ENACTED by the Queen’s most Excellent Majesty, by and with the advice and
consent of the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, and Commons, in this present

Parliament assembled, and by the authority of the same, as follows:— 

PART 1

THE ASSEMBLY AND WELSH GOVERNMENT

National Assembly for Wales

1 Frequency of Assembly ordinary general elections

(1) In section 3(1) of GOWA 2006 (date of Assembly ordinary general elections),
for “fourth” substitute “fifth”.

(2) Accordingly, in the Fixed-term Parliaments Act 2011 omit section 5 (date of
next Assembly ordinary general election).

2 Removal of restriction on standing for election for both constituency and 
electoral region

(1) GOWA 2006 is amended as follows.

B

5

10

Tudalen y pecyn 10



Wales Bill
Part 1 — The Assembly and Welsh Government

2

(2) In section 7 (candidates at general elections)—
(a) in subsection (5), for paragraph (c) (and the “or” before it) substitute—

“(c) who is a candidate to be the Assembly constituency
member for an Assembly constituency which is not
included in the Assembly electoral region, or

(d) who is a candidate to be the Assembly constituency
member for an Assembly constituency included in the
Assembly electoral region but is not a candidate of the
party.”;

(b) in subsection (6), for paragraph (c) (and the “or” before it) substitute—
“(c) a candidate to be the Assembly constituency member for

an Assembly constituency which is not included in the
Assembly electoral region, or

(d) a candidate of any registered political party to be the
Assembly constituency member for an Assembly
constituency included in the Assembly electoral
region.”

(3) In section 9 (allocation of seats to electoral region members)—
(a) in subsection (4), after “as an” insert “Assembly constituency member

or”;
(b) in subsection (5), at the end insert “(disregarding anyone already

returned as an Assembly constituency member, including anyone
whose return is void)”;

(c) in subsection (6), for the words from “by the return” to “(2)” substitute
“(by the return of persons included on it as Assembly constituency
members or by the previous application of subsection (1) or (2))”.

(4) In section 11(8) (electoral region vacancies)—
(a) for paragraphs (a) to (c) substitute—

“(a) was returned as an Assembly member at that election
(even if the return was void), or

(b) has subsequently been returned under section 10 or this
section (even if the return was void),”;

(b) in the words after paragraph (c) omit “, or of the successful candidate
at the election,”.

3 MPs to be disqualified from membership of Assembly

(1) In section 16(1) of GOWA 2006 (disqualification from being Assembly
member), before paragraph (a) insert—

“(za) is a member of the House of Commons (but see sections 17A
and 17B),”.

(2) After section 17 of that Act insert—

“17A Exception from disqualification by virtue of being an MP: recently 
elected members

(1) A person returned at an election as an Assembly member is not
disqualified under section 16(1)(za) (disqualification by virtue of being
an MP) at any time in the period of 8 days beginning with the day the
person is so returned.

(2) Subsection (3) applies where a person—

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 11



Wales Bill
Part 1 — The Assembly and Welsh Government

3

(a) is returned at an election as an Assembly member,
(b) on being so returned is a candidate for election to the House of

Commons, and
(c) is subsequently returned at that election as a member of that

House.

(3) The person is not disqualified under section 16(1)(za) at any time in the
period of 8 days beginning with the day the person is returned as a
member of the House of Commons.

(4) A person is a “candidate for election to the House of Commons” if the
person’s nomination paper for election as a member of the House of
Commons has been delivered to the returning officer under rule 6 of
Schedule 1 to the Representation of the People Act 1983 (parliamentary
election rules).

17B Exception from disqualification by virtue of being an MP: general 
election of Assembly members within 372 days

(1) This section applies if— 
(a) an Assembly member is returned as a member of the House of

Commons, and
(b) the expected day of the next general election of Assembly

members is within the period of 372 days beginning with the
day the person is so returned (“the return day”).

(2) The member is not disqualified under section 16(1)(za) (disqualification
by virtue of being an MP) at any time in the period—

(a) beginning with the return day, and
(b) ending immediately before the day of the next general election

of Assembly members.

(3) For the purposes of subsection (1)(b) the expected day of the next
general election of Assembly members is to be determined by reference
to the circumstances as at the beginning of the return day (“the relevant
time”).

(4) Where, at the relevant time, section 5(2) or (3) (extraordinary general
elections) applies—

(a) if an Order in Council under section 5(4) has been made, the
expected day is the day on which the poll is required to be held
in accordance with that Order;

(b) if no Order in Council under section 5(4) has been made but a
day has been proposed under section 5(1), that is the expected
day;

(c) otherwise, the expected day is to be treated as being within the
period mentioned in subsection (1)(b).

(5) For the purpose of determining the expected day, no account is to be
taken of the possibility of—

(a) an order under section 4 (power to vary date of ordinary
general election) being made after the relevant time, or

(b) section 5(2) or (3) (extraordinary general elections) first
applying after that time.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 12



Wales Bill
Part 1 — The Assembly and Welsh Government

4

(6) References in this section to the “day” of the election are to the day on
which the poll at the election is held.”

(3) The National Assembly for Wales (Representation of the People) Order 2007
(S.I. 2007/236) is amended as follows.

(4) In article 34 (false statements in nomination papers), at the end of paragraph
(5)(c) insert “or to the best of his knowledge and belief he is disqualified only
under section 16(1)(za) of the 2006 Act (disqualification of MPs)”. 

(5) In Schedule 5 (Assembly election rules), in rule 9(4)(c)(ii) (consent to
nomination) after “Assembly” insert “or that to the best of his knowledge and
belief he is disqualified for membership of the Assembly only under section
16(1)(za) of the 2006 Act (disqualification of MPs)”.

Welsh Government

4 The Welsh Government

(1) The Welsh Assembly Government is renamed the Welsh Government, or
Llywodraeth Cymru.

(2) Accordingly, in GOWA 2006—
(a) omit “Assembly” wherever it occurs in the expression “Welsh

Assembly Government”;
(b) omit “Cynulliad” where it occurs in section 45(1) (in both places).

(3) In the following sections of GOWA 2006, as amended by subsection (2), the
references to the Welsh Government include, in relation to any time before the
coming into force of this section, references to the Welsh Assembly
Government—

(a) section 37(5) (power to impose requirements on current or former
members of staff of the Government);

(b) section 52(7)(a) and (8) (power to pay pensions in respect of current or
former members of staff of the Government).

(4) Unless the context requires otherwise, in any enactment, instrument or other
document passed or made before the date on which this section comes into
force (except GOWA 2006 - as to which see subsections (2) and (3))—

(a) any reference to the Welsh Assembly Government is to be read as, or as
including, a reference to the Welsh Government, and

(b) any reference to Llywodraeth Cynulliad Cymru is to be read as, or as
including, a reference to Llywodraeth Cymru.

5 First Minister: removal of power to designate after dissolution of Assembly

   In section 46 of GOWA 2006 (the First Minister), at the end of subsection (5)(c)
(designation if First Minister ceases to be Assembly member) insert “otherwise
than by reason of a dissolution”.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Tudalen y pecyn 13



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

5

PART 2

FINANCE

Introductory

6 Taxation: introductory

(1) GOWA 2006 is amended as follows.

(2) After Part 4 insert—

“PART 4A

TAXATION

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTORY

116A Overview of Part 4A

(1) In this Part Chapters 3 and 4 specify the taxes about which the
Assembly may make provision in the exercise of the power conferred
by section 107(1).

(2) The power to make provision about a devolved tax is subject to the
restrictions imposed by—

(a) subsection (3), and
(b) the other provisions of this Part.

(3) A devolved tax may not be imposed where to do so would be
incompatible with any international obligations.

(4) In this Act “devolved tax” means a tax specified in this Part as a
devolved tax. 

116B Status of officials of body that collects and manages devolved taxes

(1) This section applies where an Act of the Assembly establishes a body
that is to be responsible for the collection and management of devolved
taxes (whether or not the body is also to be responsible for local
government finance or any other matter).

(2) In this section “relevant official” means an officer or member of staff of
the body mentioned in subsection (1) who has no functions other than
functions relating to—

(a) the collection or management of devolved taxes, or
(b) local government finance.

(3) If an Act of the Assembly provides that service as a relevant official is
service in the civil service of the State, that provision is treated as falling
within section 108(4) or (5) (legislative competence).

(4) In subsections (5) to (7), “relevant civil servant” means a relevant
official whose service is service in the civil service of the State by virtue
of provision of the kind mentioned in subsection (3).

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Tudalen y pecyn 14



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

6

(5) The Welsh Ministers must pay the salaries and expenses of relevant
civil servants.

(6) The Welsh Ministers must make payments to the Minister for the Civil
Service, at such times as the Minister for the Civil Service may
determine, of such amounts as may be so determined in respect of—

(a) the provision of pensions, allowances or gratuities by virtue of
section 1 of the Superannuation Act 1972 or section 1 of the
Public Service Pensions Act 2013 to or in respect of persons who
are or have been relevant civil servants, and

(b) the expenses incurred in administering those pensions,
allowances and gratuities.

(7) The Welsh Ministers may make payments towards the provision of
pensions, allowances or gratuities to or in respect of any person who is
or has been a relevant civil servant.

116C Power to add new devolved taxes

(1) Her Majesty may by Order in Council amend this Part so as to—
(a) specify, as an additional devolved tax, a tax of any description,

or
(b) make any other modifications of the provisions relating to

devolved taxes which She considers appropriate.

(2) An Order in Council under this section may make such modifications
of—

(a) any enactment (including any enactment comprised in or made
under this Act) or prerogative instrument, or

(b) any other instrument or document,
as Her Majesty considers appropriate in connection with the provision
made by the Order.

(3) No recommendation is to be made to Her Majesty in Council to make
an Order in Council under this section unless a draft of the statutory
instrument containing the Order has been laid before, and approved by
a resolution of, each House of Parliament and the Assembly.

(4) The amendment of this Part by an Order in Council under this section
does not affect—

(a) the validity of an Act of the Assembly passed before the
amendment comes into force, or

(b) the previous or continuing operation of such an Act of the
Assembly.”

(3) In section 108 (legislative competence of the Assembly)—
(a) in subsection (4)(a), after “Schedule 7 and” insert “, subject to subsection

(4A),”;
(b) after subsection (4) insert—

“(4A) Provision relating to a devolved tax (as listed under the heading
“Taxation” in Part 1 of Schedule 7) is not outside the Assembly’s
legislative competence by reason only of the fact that it falls
within an exception specified under another heading in that
Part of that Schedule.”

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 15



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

7

(4) In section 111 (proceedings on Bills), in subsection (8), for “and 116(3)”
substitute “, 116(3) and 116C(4)”.

(5) In section 158(2) (references to enactments), after “109(2)” insert “, 116C(2)”.

(6) In section 159 (index of defined expressions), at the appropriate place insert—

(7) Part 1 of Schedule 7 (legislative competence to make Acts of the Assembly) is
amended as follows.

(8) In paragraph 4 (economic development), in the first exception, after “Fiscal,
economic and monetary policy” insert “(except so far as relating to devolved
taxes)”.

(9) After paragraph 16 insert—

“Taxation

16A Devolved taxes (as defined in section 116A(4)).”

7 Amendments relating to the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs

(1) In section 1(1) of the Customs and Excise Management Act 1979
(interpretation), in the definition of “assigned matter”, after “the Scotland Act
1998” insert “or the Government of Wales Act 2006”.

(2) The Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005 is amended in
accordance with subsections (3) to (13).

(3) In section 15 (agency), after subsection (2) insert—

“(3) For the purposes of section 83 of the Government of Wales Act 2006
(agency arrangements)—

(a) the Commissioners are to be treated as a relevant authority, and
(b) the officers of Revenue and Customs are to be treated as a

relevant authority.”

(4) Accordingly, the heading to that section becomes “Agency: Scotland, Northern
Ireland and Wales”.

(5) In section 17(5) (use of information), in paragraph (a), after “Act,” insert—
“(aa) an Act of the National Assembly for Wales or an instrument

made under such an Act,”.

(6) Section 18 (confidentiality) is amended in accordance with subsections (7) to
(9).

(7) In subsection (2)—
(a) omit “or” at the end of paragraph (h);
(b) after paragraph (i) insert “, or

(j) which is made to the Welsh Ministers in connection with
the collection and management of a devolved tax within
the meaning of the Government of Wales Act 2006.”

“devolved tax section 116A(4)”. 5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Tudalen y pecyn 16



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

8

(8) In subsection (2A), after “subsection (2)(i)” insert “or (j)”.

(9) In subsection (4)(e), in sub-paragraph (i), after “Act,” insert—
“(ia) an Act of the National Assembly for Wales or an

instrument made under such an Act,”.

(10) In section 40(11) (confidentiality), in paragraph (a), after “Act,” insert—
“(aa) an Act of the National Assembly for Wales or an instrument

made under such an Act,”.

(11) Section 51 (interpretation) is amended in accordance with subsections (12) and
(13).

(12) In subsection (1), in the definition of “enactment”, after paragraph (b) insert—
“(ba) an Act of the National Assembly for Wales,
(bb) an instrument made under an Act of the National Assembly for

Wales,”.

(13) After subsection (2A) insert—

“(2B) Nor does such a reference include a function which—
(a) is conferred on the Commissioners or on officers of Revenue

and Customs by or by virtue of an Act of the National Assembly
for Wales or an instrument made under such an Act, and

(b) relates to a devolved tax within the meaning of the Government
of Wales Act 2006.” 

(14) In Schedule 7 to GOWA 2006 (legislative competence to make Acts of the
Assembly)—

(a) in Part 2 (general restrictions), after paragraph 4, insert—

“4A A provision of an Act of the Assembly cannot—
(a) remove or modify, or confer power by subordinate

legislation, to remove or modify, any function of Her
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs, or

(b) confer or impose, or confer power by subordinate
legislation to confer or impose, any function on Her
Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.”;

(b) in Part 3 (exceptions from Part 2), after paragraph 7, insert—

“Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs

7A (1) Part 2 does not prevent a provision of an Act of the
Assembly—

(a) removing or modifying, or conferring power by
subordinate legislation to remove or modify, any
function of Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs, or

(b) conferring or imposing, or conferring power by
subordinate legislation to confer or impose, any
function on Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs,

if the following conditions are met.

(2) The conditions are—
(a) that the function relates to a devolved tax, and
(b) that the Treasury consent to the provision.”

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 17



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

9

Welsh rate of income tax

8 Welsh rate of income tax

(1) Part 4A of GOWA 2006 (as inserted by section 6) is amended as follows.

(2) In section 116A(1) (overview), after “Part” insert “—
(a) Chapter 2 confers on the Assembly power to set a rate of income

tax to be paid by Welsh taxpayers, and
(b) ”.

(3) After Chapter 1 insert—

“CHAPTER 2

INCOME TAX

116D Power to set Welsh rate for Welsh taxpayers

(1) The Assembly may by resolution (a “Welsh rate resolution”) set the
Welsh rate for the purpose of calculating the rates of income tax to be
paid by Welsh taxpayers.

(2) See section 6B of the Income Tax Act 2007 for provision about the
calculation of those rates and section 11B of that Act for provision about
the income charged at those rates.

(3) A Welsh rate resolution applies—
(a) for only one tax year, and
(b) for the whole of that year.

(4) A Welsh rate resolution may specify only one rate. 

(5) The Welsh rate must be a whole number or half a whole number.

(6) A Welsh rate resolution—
(a) must specify the tax year for which it applies,
(b) must be made before the start of that tax year, and
(c) must not be made more than 12 months before the start of that

year.

(7) If a Welsh rate resolution is cancelled before the start of the tax year for
which it is to apply—

(a) the Income Tax Acts have effect for that year as if the resolution
had never been made, and

(b) the resolution may be replaced by another Welsh rate
resolution.

(8) The standing orders must provide that only the First Minister or a
Welsh Minister appointed under section 48 may move a motion for a
Welsh rate resolution.

116E Welsh taxpayers

(1) For any tax year, a Welsh taxpayer is an individual (T)—
(a) who is resident in the UK for income tax purposes for that year

(see Schedule 45 to the Finance Act 2013), and

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 18



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

10

(b) who, for that year, meets condition A, B or C.

(2) T meets condition A if T has a close connection with Wales (see section
116G).

(3) T meets condition B if—
(a) T does not have a close connection with England, Scotland or

Northern Ireland (see section 116G), and
(b) T spends more days of that year in Wales than in any other part

of the UK (see section 116H).

(4) T meets condition C if, for the whole or any part of the year, T is—
(a) a member of Parliament for a constituency in Wales,
(b) a member of the European Parliament for Wales, or
(c) an Assembly member.

(5) Subsection (1) does not apply if T is a Scottish parliamentarian for the
whole or any part of the year (see section 116F).

(6) For the purposes of subsection (5) and section 116F, T is a Scottish
parliamentarian if T is a member as described in any of paragraphs (a)
to (c) of section 80D(4) of the Scotland Act 1998 (definition of a Scottish
taxpayer).

(7) In this Chapter “the UK” means the United Kingdom.

116F Welsh taxpayers: Scottish parliamentarians

(1) An individual (T) who is a Scottish parliamentarian for the whole or
any part of a tax year is a Welsh taxpayer for that tax year if—

(a) T is resident in the UK for income tax purposes for that year (see
Schedule 45 to the Finance Act 2013),

(b) T meets condition C in section 116E for that year, and
(c) T meets either of the following conditions for that year.

(2) T meets the first condition if—
(a) the number of days in that year on which T is a member as

described in any of paragraphs (a) to (c) of section 116E(4),
exceeds

(b) the number of days in that year on which T is a Scottish
parliamentarian.

(3) T meets the second condition if—
(a) the number of days in that year mentioned in paragraphs (a)

and (b) of subsection (2) are the same, and
(b) T meets condition A or B in section 116E for that year.

116G Close connection with Wales or another part of the UK

(1) To find whether, for any year, T has a close connection with any part of
the UK see—

(a) subsection (2) (where T has only one place of residence in the
UK), or

(b) subsection (3) (where T has 2 or more places of residence in the
UK).

(2) T has a close connection with a part of the UK if in that year—

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 19



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

11

(a) T has only one place of residence in the UK,
(b) that place of residence is in that part of the UK, and
(c) for at least part of the year, T lives at that place.

(3) T has a close connection with a part of the UK if in that year—
(a) T has 2 or more places of residence in the UK,
(b) for at least part of the year, T’s main place of residence in the UK

is in that part of the UK,
(c) the times in the year when T’s main place of residence is in that

part of the UK comprise (in aggregate) more of the year than the
times when T’s main place of residence is in each other part of
the UK (considered separately), and

(d) for at least part of the year, T lives at a place of residence in that
part of the UK.

(4) In this section “place” includes a place on board a vessel or other means
of transport.

116H Days spent in Wales or another part of the UK

(1) T spends more days of a year in Wales than in any other part of the UK
if (and only if) the number of days in the year on which T is in Wales at
the end of the day exceeds each of the following—

(a) the number of days in the year on which T is in England at the
end of the day;

(b) the number of days in the year on which T is in Scotland at the
end of the day;

(c) the number of days in the year on which T is in Northern
Ireland at the end of the day.

(2) T is treated as not being in the UK at the end of a day if—
(a) on that day T arrives in the UK as a passenger,
(b) T departs from the UK on the next day, and
(c) during the time between arrival and departure T does not

engage in activities which are to a substantial extent unrelated
to T’s passage through the UK.

116I Supplemental powers to modify enactments

(1) The Treasury may by order modify section 11B of the Income Tax Act
2007 (income charged at the Welsh basic, higher and additional rates)
for the purpose of altering—

(a) the definition of the income which is charged to income tax at
the rates provided for under the section, or

(b) the application of the section in relation to a particular class of
income which is so charged.

(2) The Treasury may by order modify any enactment not contained in
Chapter 2 of Part 2 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (rates at which income
tax is charged) so that it makes provision, in relation to a Welsh
taxpayer, by reference to the Welsh basic rate, the Welsh higher rate or
the Welsh additional rate, instead of the basic rate, the higher rate or the
additional rate.

(3) If the Treasury consider it necessary or expedient to do so, they may by
order provide that—

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 20



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

12

(a) the Welsh rate set by the Assembly for a tax year, or 
(b) the fact that the Welsh rate has not been so set for a tax year,

does not require any change in the amounts repayable or deductible
under PAYE regulations between the beginning of that year and such
later date as may be specified in the order.

(4) The Treasury may by order make such modifications of any enactment
as they consider necessary or expedient in consequence of or in
connection with an order under subsection (1), (2) or (3).

(5) An order under this section may, to the extent that the Treasury
consider it to be appropriate, take effect retrospectively from the
beginning of the tax year in which the order is made.

(6) No order is to be made under subsection (1), (2) or (4) unless a draft of
the statutory instrument containing it has been laid before, and
approved by a resolution of, the House of Commons.

(7) A statutory instrument containing an order under subsection (3) is
subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of
Commons.

(8) The power under subsection (1) does not include power to provide that
any income which is—

(a) savings income, or
(b) dividend income which would otherwise be charged to income

tax at a rate provided for under section 13 of the Income Tax Act
2007,

is income which is charged to income tax at a rate provided for under
section 11B of that Act.

116J Reimbursement of expenses

The Welsh Ministers may reimburse any Minister of the Crown or
government department for administrative expenses incurred by
virtue of this Chapter at any time after the passing of the Wales Act 2014
by the Minister or department.

116K Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General

(1) The Comptroller and Auditor General must for each financial year
prepare a report on the matters set out in subsection (2).

(2) Those matters are—
(a) the adequacy of any of HMRC’s rules and procedures put in

place, in consequence of the Welsh rate provisions, for the
purpose of ensuring the proper assessment and collection of
income tax charged at rates determined under those provisions,

(b) whether the rules and procedures described in paragraph (a)
are being complied with,

(c) the correctness of the sums brought to account by HMRC which
relate to income tax which is attributable to a Welsh rate
resolution, and

(d) the accuracy and fairness of the amounts which are reimbursed
to HMRC under section 116J (having been identified by it as
administrative expenses incurred as a result of the charging of
income tax as mentioned in paragraph (a)). 

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 21



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

13

(3) The “Welsh rate provisions” are—
(a) any provision made by or under this Chapter, and
(b) any provision made by or under the Income Tax Acts relating to

the Welsh basic rate, the Welsh higher rate or the Welsh
additional rate.

(4) A report under this section may also include an assessment of the
economy, efficiency and effectiveness with which HMRC has used its
resources in carrying out relevant functions.

(5) “Relevant functions” are functions of HMRC in the performance of
which HMRC incurs administrative expenses which are reimbursed to
HMRC under section 116J (having been identified by it as
administrative expenses incurred as a result of the charging of income
tax as mentioned in subsection (2)(a)). 

(6) HMRC must give the Comptroller and Auditor General such
information as the Comptroller and Auditor General may reasonably
require for the purposes of preparing a report under this section.

(7) A report prepared under this section must be laid before the Assembly
not later than 31 January of the financial year following that to which
the report relates.

(8) In this section “HMRC” means Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.”

9 Welsh basic, higher and additional rates of income tax

(1) The Income Tax Act 2007 is amended in accordance with subsections (2) to (11).

(2) In section 6 (the basic rate, higher rate and additional rate), in subsection (3),
before paragraph (a) insert—

“(zb) section 6B (Welsh basic, higher and additional rates),”.

(3) Before section 7 insert—

“6B The Welsh basic, higher and additional rates

(1) The Welsh basic rate, the Welsh higher rate and the Welsh additional
rate for a tax year are calculated as follows.
Step 1
Take the basic rate, higher rate or additional rate.
Step 2
Deduct 10 percentage points.
Step 3
Add the Welsh rate (if any) set by the National Assembly for Wales for
that year.

(2) For provision about the setting of the Welsh rate, see Chapter 2 of Part
4A of the Government of Wales Act 2006.”

(4) In section 10 (income charged at the basic, higher and additional rates:
individuals), in subsection (4), at the appropriate place, insert—

   “section 11B (income charged at the Welsh basic, higher and additional
rates),”.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 22



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

14

(5) Before section 12 insert—

“11B Income charged at the Welsh basic, higher and additional rates

(1) Income tax is charged at the Welsh basic rate on the income of a Welsh
taxpayer which—

(a) is non-savings income, and
(b) would otherwise be charged at the basic rate.

(2) Income tax is charged at the Welsh higher rate on the income of a Welsh
taxpayer which—

(a) is non-savings income, and
(b) would otherwise be charged at the higher rate.

(3) Income tax is charged at the Welsh additional rate on the income of a
Welsh taxpayer which—

(a) is non-savings income, and
(b) would otherwise be charged at the additional rate.

(4) For the purposes of this section, “non-savings income” means income
which is not savings income.

(5) This section is subject to—
section 13 (income charged at the dividend ordinary, upper and

additional rates: individuals), and
any provisions of the Income Tax Acts (apart from section 10)

which provide for income of an individual to be charged at
different rates of income tax in some circumstances.

(6) Section 16 has effect for determining the extent to which the non-
savings income of a Welsh taxpayer would otherwise be charged at the
basic, higher or additional rate.”

(6) In section 13 (income charged at the dividend ordinary, upper and additional
rates)—

(a) in subsection (1)(b), before “and” insert “or the Welsh basic rate,”,
(b) in subsection (2)(b), before “and” insert “or the Welsh higher rate,”,
(c) in subsection (2A)(b), before “and” insert “or the Welsh additional

rate,”,
(d) in subsection (3), at the end of the words in parenthesis, insert “or 11B”,

and
(e) in subsection (4), at the end insert “or the Welsh basic, higher or

additional rate”.

(7) In section 16 (savings and dividend income to be treated as highest part of total
income), in subsection (1), after paragraph (za) insert—

“(zb) the rate at which income tax would be charged on the non-
savings income of a Welsh taxpayer apart from section 11B,”.

(8) In section 809H (charge on nominated income of long-term UK resident), after
subsection (3A) insert—

“(3B) If the individual is a Welsh taxpayer for the relevant tax year, the
individual is to be treated for the purpose of calculating income tax
charged by virtue of subsection (2) as if the individual were not a Welsh
taxpayer for that year.”

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 23



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

15

(9) In section 828B (conditions to be met for exemption where individual resident
but not domiciled in the UK), in subsection (5), before “or the starting rate”
insert “, the Welsh basic rate”.

(10) In section 989 (definitions for the purposes of the Income Tax Acts), at the
appropriate place, insert—

““Welsh additional rate” means the rate of income tax of that name
calculated in accordance with section 6B,”,

““Welsh basic rate” means the rate of income tax of that name calculated
in accordance with section 6B,”,

““Welsh higher rate” means the rate of income tax of that name calculated
in accordance with section 6B,”,

““Welsh taxpayer” has the same meaning as in Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the
Government of Wales Act 2006”.

(11) In Schedule 4 (index of defined expressions), at the appropriate place, insert—

(12) In section 7 of the Taxes Management Act 1970 (notice of liability to income tax
and capital gains tax), in subsection (6), before “the dividend ordinary rate”
insert “the Welsh basic rate,”.

(13) The Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 is amended in accordance with
subsections (14) and (15).

(14) In section 4 (rates of capital gains tax), in subsections (4) and (5), before “or the
dividend” insert “, the Welsh higher rate”.

(15) In section 4A (section 4: special cases), in subsection (5), before “or the
dividend” insert “, the Welsh higher rate”.

10 Amendments to the definition of a Scottish taxpayer

(1) Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998 (Scottish rate of income tax) is
amended as follows.

(2) Section 80D (Scottish taxpayers) is amended in accordance with subsections (3)
to (5).

(3) In subsection (1)—
(a) for “In” substitute “For”;
(b) in paragraph (a), after “purposes” insert “for that year (see Schedule 45

to the Finance Act 2013)”.

(4) In subsection (3)(a), for “any part of the UK other than Scotland” substitute
“England, Wales or Northern Ireland”.

“Welsh additional rate section 6B (as applied by
section 989)”

“Welsh basic rate section 6B (as applied by
section 989)”

“Welsh higher rate section 6B (as applied by
section 989)”

“Welsh taxpayer section 989”

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 24



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

16

(5) After subsection (4), insert—

“(4A) Subsection (1) does not apply if T is a Welsh parliamentarian for the
whole or any part of the year (see section 80DA).

(4B) For the purposes of subsection (4A) and section 80DA, T is a Welsh
parliamentarian if T is a member as described in any of paragraphs (a)
to (c) of section 116E(4) of the Government of Wales Act 2006
(definition of a Welsh taxpayer).”

(6) After section 80D insert—

“80DA Scottish taxpayers: Welsh parliamentarians

(1) An individual (T) who is a Welsh parliamentarian for the whole or any
part of a tax year is a Scottish taxpayer for that tax year if—

(a) T is resident in the UK for income tax purposes for that year (see
Schedule 45 to the Finance Act 2013),

(b) T meets condition C in section 80D for that year, and
(c) T meets either of the following conditions for that year.

(2) T meets the first condition if—
(a) the number of days in that year on which T is a member as

described in any of paragraphs (a) to (c) of section 80D(4),
exceeds

(b) the number of days in that year on which T is a Welsh
parliamentarian.

(3) T meets the second condition if—
(a) the number of days in that year mentioned in paragraphs (a)

and (b) of subsection (2) are the same, and
(b) T meets condition A or B in section 80D for that year.”

(7) In section 80E (close connection with Scotland or another part of the UK), in
subsection (3)(c)—

(a) for “at least as much of the year as” substitute “more of the year than”;
(b) for “any one other part of the UK” substitute “each other part of the UK

(considered separately)”.

(8) In section 80F (days spent in Scotland or another part of the UK)—
(a) in subsection (1), for the words from “if)—” to the end substitute “if) the

number of days in the year on which T is in Scotland at the end of the
day exceeds each of the following—

(a) the number of days in the year on which T is in England
at the end of the day;

(b) the number of days in the year on which T is in Wales at
the end of the day;

(c) the number of days in the year on which T is in Northern
Ireland at the end of the day.”;

(b) in subsection (2), for “But T is not to be treated as” substitute “T is
treated as not”.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 25



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

17

Referendum on income tax provisions

11 Referendum about commencement of income tax provisions

(1) Her Majesty may by Order in Council cause a referendum to be held
throughout Wales about whether the income tax provisions should come into
force.

(2) If the majority of the voters in a referendum held by virtue of subsection (1)
vote in favour of the income tax provisions coming into force, those provisions
are to come into force in accordance with section 13.

(3) But if they do not, that does not prevent the making of a subsequent Order
under subsection (1).

(4) No recommendation is to be made to Her Majesty to make an Order under
subsection (1) unless a draft of the statutory instrument containing the Order
has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, each House of
Parliament and the Assembly.

(5) But subsection (4) is not satisfied unless the resolution of the Assembly is
passed on a vote in which the number of Assembly members voting in favour
of it is not less than two-thirds of the total number of Assembly seats.

(6) A draft of a statutory instrument containing an Order under subsection (1) may
not be laid before either House of Parliament, or the Assembly, until the
Secretary of State has undertaken such consultation as the Secretary of State
considers appropriate.

(7) For further provision about a referendum held by virtue of subsection (1), see
Schedule 1.

(8) In this section “the income tax provisions” means sections 8 and 9.

12 Proposal for referendum by Assembly

(1) This section applies if—
(a) the First Minister or a Welsh Minister appointed under section 48 of

GOWA 2006 moves a resolution in the Assembly that, in the
Assembly’s opinion, a recommendation should be made to Her
Majesty to make an Order under section 11(1), and

(b) the Assembly passes the resolution on a vote in which the number of
Assembly members voting in favour of it is not less than two-thirds of
the total number of Assembly seats.

(2) The First Minister must, as soon as practicable after the resolution is passed,
ensure that notice in writing of the resolution is given to the Secretary of State.

(3) Within the period of 180 days beginning immediately after the day on which
notice under subsection (2) is received by the Secretary of State—

(a) the Secretary of State or the Lord President of the Council must lay a
draft of a statutory instrument containing an Order under section 11(1)
before each House of Parliament, or

(b) the Secretary of State must give notice in writing to the First Minister of
the refusal to lay a draft under paragraph (a) and the reasons for that
refusal.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 26



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

18

(4) As soon as practicable after the First Minister receives notice under subsection
(3)(b)—

(a) the First Minister must lay a copy of the notice before the Assembly,
and

(b) the Assembly must ensure that the notice is published.

13 Commencement of the income tax provisions etc if majority in favour

(1) This section applies where the majority of the voters in a referendum held by
virtue of section 11(1) vote in favour of the income tax provisions coming into
force.

(2) The Treasury may bring sections 8 and 9 into force by order.

(3) An order under subsection (2)—
(a) must appoint, in relation to each provision inserted by section 8 or 9,

the day on which it comes into force;
(b) may provide that a provision inserted by section 8 or 9 has effect in

relation to—
(i) a tax year appointed by the order and subsequent tax years, or

(ii) a financial year so appointed and subsequent financial years.

(4) A tax year may be appointed under subsection (3)(b) in relation to a provision
inserted by section 8 or 9 only if the tax year begins on or after the day
appointed under subsection (3)(a) in relation to that provision.

(5) An order under subsection (2) that brings into force section 116D of GOWA
2006 (power to set Welsh rate for Welsh taxpayers) must appoint the first tax
year in relation to which a Welsh rate resolution may be made.

(6) The Treasury may bring section 10(5), (6), (7)(a) and (8)(a) into force by order.

(7) An order under subsection (6)—
(a) must appoint a day on which the amendments made by the provisions

mentioned in that subsection come into force, and
(b) must provide that those amendments have effect in relation to a tax

year appointed by the order and subsequent tax years.

(8) The tax year appointed under subsection (7)(b)—
(a) must begin on or after the day appointed under subsection (7)(a), and
(b) must not precede the tax year appointed under subsection (5) or under

section 25(5) of the Scotland Act 2012 (the first tax year for which
Chapter 2 of Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998 has effect). 

(9) An order under this section may make different provision for different
purposes.

Welsh tax on land transactions

14 Welsh tax on transactions involving interests in land

(1) In Part 4A of GOWA 2006 (as inserted by section 6), after Chapter 2 (inserted

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Tudalen y pecyn 27



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

19

by section 8) insert—

“CHAPTER 3

TAX ON TRANSACTIONS INVOLVING INTERESTS IN LAND

116L Tax on transactions involving interests in land

(1) A tax which is charged on a Welsh land transaction and complies with
the requirements of this section is a devolved tax.

(2) In this Chapter a “Welsh land transaction” means an acquisition of—
(a) an estate, interest, right or power in or over land in Wales;
(b) the benefit of an obligation, restriction or condition affecting the

value of any such estate, interest, right or power.

(3) The tax may be chargeable—
(a) whether or not there is any instrument effecting the transaction,
(b) if there is such an instrument, regardless of where it is executed,

and
(c) regardless of where any party to the transaction is or is resident.

(4) The tax may not be imposed on so much of a Welsh land transaction as
relates to land below mean low water mark.

(5) The following persons are not to be liable to pay the tax—
   Government

   A Minister of the Crown
   The Welsh Ministers, the First Minister and the Counsel

General
   The Scottish Ministers
   A Northern Ireland department

   Parliament etc
   The Corporate Officer of the House of Lords
   The Corporate Officer of the House of Commons
   The Assembly Commission
   The Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body
   The Northern Ireland Assembly Commission.”

(2) A devolved tax specified in section 116L of GOWA 2006 (as inserted by this
section) may not be charged under an Act of the Assembly on a land
transaction within the meaning of Part 4 of the Finance Act 2003 unless section
15 (disapplication of UK stamp duty land tax) has effect in relation to that
transaction.

15 Disapplication of UK stamp duty land tax

(1) Part 4 of the Finance Act 2003 (stamp duty land tax) is amended as follows.

(2) In section 48 (chargeable interests), in subsection (1)(a), omit “and Wales”.

(3) Schedule 2 to this Act contains further amendments relating to the
disapplication of stamp duty land tax in relation to Wales.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 28



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

20

(4) The amendments made by this section and Schedule 2 have effect in relation to
land transactions with an effective date on or after such date as is appointed by
the Treasury by order under this subsection.

(5) But those amendments do not have effect in relation to any transaction—
(a) effected in pursuance of a contract entered into and substantially

performed on or before the date on which this Act is passed, or
(b) effected in pursuance of a contract entered into on or before that date

and not excluded by subsection (6).

(6) A transaction effected in pursuance of a contract entered into on or before the
date on which this Act is passed is excluded if—

(a) there is any variation of the contract, or assignment of rights under the
contract, after that date,

(b) the transaction is effected in consequence of the exercise after that date
of any option, right of pre-emption or similar right, or

(c) after that date there is an assignment, subsale or other transaction
relating to the whole or part of the subject-matter of the contract as a
result of which a person other than the purchaser under the contract
becomes entitled to call for a conveyance.

(7) Expressions used in any of subsections (4) to (6) and in Part 4 of the Finance Act
2003 have the same meaning in those subsections as in that Part.

16 Information on Welsh land transactions

(1) In Part 4A of GOWA 2006 (as inserted by section 6), in Chapter 3 (inserted by
section 14), after section 116L insert—

“116M Duty to disclose information on Welsh land transactions to HMRC

(1) A person who is a member of the Welsh Government must provide to
HMRC such of the information falling within subsection (2) as HMRC
may require.

(2) Information falls within this subsection if it—
(a) is relevant information in relation to a Welsh land transaction,

and 
(b) is in the possession or under the control of the person.

(3) “Relevant information”, in relation to a Welsh land transaction, means
information which—

(a) corresponds to any of the particulars which would be required
under Schedule 2 to the Finance Act 1931, but for section
28(3)(c) of that Act, or

(b) uniquely identifies, or assists in uniquely identifying, any
person who gives consideration for, or is a party to, the
transaction.

(4) Information is to be provided under subsection (1) in such form as
HMRC may reasonably specify.

(5) Information acquired by HMRC under this section is to be treated, for
the purposes of the Commissioners for Revenue and Customs Act 2005,
as acquired in connection with a function of theirs.

(6) In this section, “HMRC” means Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs.”

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 29



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

21

(2) This section has effect in relation to land transactions in relation to which
section 15 has effect.

Welsh tax on disposals to landfill

17 Welsh tax on disposals to landfill

(1) In Part 4A of GOWA 2006 (as inserted by section 6), after Chapter 3 (inserted
by section 14) insert—

“CHAPTER 4

TAX ON DISPOSALS TO LANDFILL

116N Tax on disposals to landfill

(1) A tax charged on disposals to landfill made in Wales is a devolved tax.

(2) A disposal is a disposal to landfill if—
(a) it is a disposal of material as waste, and
(b) it is made by way of landfill.”

(2) A devolved tax specified in section 116N of GOWA 2006 (as inserted by this
section) may not be charged under an Act of the Assembly on a disposal if the
disposal is made before the date appointed under section 18(3) (disapplication
of UK landfill tax).

18 Disapplication of UK landfill tax

(1) Part 3 of the Finance Act 1996 (landfill tax) is amended as follows.

(2) In section 40(1) (charge on taxable disposal), omit “and Wales”.

(3) This section has effect in relation to disposals made on or after such date as is
appointed by the Treasury by order under this subsection.

Borrowing

19 Borrowing by the Welsh Ministers

(1) GOWA 2006 is amended as follows.

(2) Section 121 (borrowing by Welsh Ministers) is amended in accordance with
subsections (3) to (5).

(3) For subsection (1) substitute—

“(1) The Welsh Ministers may borrow from the Secretary of State—
(a) any amounts it appears to them are required by them for the

purpose of meeting a temporary excess of sums paid out of the
Welsh Consolidated Fund over sums paid into that Fund,

(b) any amounts it appears to them are required by them for the
purpose of providing a working balance in the Welsh
Consolidated Fund, and

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Tudalen y pecyn 30



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

22

(c) any amounts which in accordance with rules determined by the
Treasury are required by the Welsh Ministers to meet current
expenditure because of a shortfall in receipts from devolved
taxes, or from income tax charged by virtue of a Welsh rate
resolution, against forecast receipts.

(1A) The Welsh Ministers may, with the approval of the Treasury, borrow
by way of loan any amounts it appears to them are required by them
for the purpose of meeting capital expenditure.

(1B) An amount is required for the purpose of meeting capital expenditure
if the expenditure would be capital expenditure for the purposes of
accounts under section 131.”

(4) In subsection (2), after “section” insert “from the Secretary of State”.

(5) After subsection (3) insert—

“(4) The Secretary of State may by order made with the consent of the
Treasury amend subsection (1A) so as to vary the means by which the
Welsh Ministers may borrow money.

(5) No order is to be made under subsection (4) unless a draft of the
statutory instrument containing it has been laid before, and approved
by a resolution of, the House of Commons.”

(6) Section 122 (lending by Secretary of State) is amended in accordance with
subsections (7) to (9).

(7) In subsection (2), for “that section” substitute “section 121(1)”.

(8) In subsection (3), omit “greater”.

(9) After subsection (3) insert—

“(3A) An amount substituted under subsection (3) may be more or less than
the amount for which it is substituted but may not be less than £500
million.”

(10) After section 122 insert—

“122A Lending for capital expenditure

(1) The aggregate at any time outstanding in respect of the principal of
amounts borrowed under section 121(1A) shall not exceed £500 million.

(2) The Secretary of State may by order made with the consent of the
Treasury substitute for the amount for the time being specified in
subsection (1) such amount as may be specified in the order.

(3) An amount substituted under subsection (2) may be more or less than
the amount for which it is substituted but may not be less than £500
million.

(4) No order is to be made under subsection (2) unless a draft of the
statutory instrument containing it has been laid before, and approved
by a resolution of, the House of Commons.

(5) A person lending money to a member of the Welsh Government—
(a) is not bound to enquire whether the member of the Welsh

Government has power to borrow the money, and 

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 31



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

23

(b) is not to be prejudiced by the absence of any such power.

(6) The Welsh Ministers may not mortgage or charge any of their property
as security for money which they have borrowed under section
121(1A).
This is subject to section 121(3) (charging of sums on the Welsh
Consolidated Fund).

(7) Security given in breach of subsection (6) is unenforceable.”

20 Repeal of existing borrowing power

(1) In Schedule 3 to the Welsh Development Agency Act 1975 (borrowing and
guarantees), the following are repealed—

(a) paragraph 3 (power for Welsh Ministers to borrow money);
(b) paragraph 6 (power for Treasury to guarantee money borrowed under

paragraph 3).

(2) The repeals made by subsection (1) do not affect—
(a) the liability of the Welsh Ministers to repay any money borrowed

under paragraph 3 of that Schedule before the date when that
subsection comes into force, or

(b) any guarantee given under paragraph 6 of that Schedule before that
date.

(3) Subsection (4) applies to the aggregate amount (if any) which, immediately
before subsection (1) comes into force, is outstanding in respect of the principal
of sums borrowed on or after the day on which this Act is passed under
paragraph 3 of that Schedule for the purpose of meeting capital expenditure.

(4) For the purpose of section 122A(1) of GOWA 2006 (limit on capital borrowing),
that amount is treated as outstanding in respect of the principal of sums
borrowed under section 121(1A) of that Act.

(5) An amount is borrowed for the purpose of meeting capital expenditure if the
expenditure would be capital expenditure for the purposes of accounts under
section 131 of GOWA 2006.

Budgetary procedures

21 Budgetary procedures

(1) Schedule 7 to GOWA 2006 (legislative competence to make Acts of the
Assembly) is amended as follows.

(2) In Part 1, in paragraph 13 (National Assembly for Wales), at the end insert
“Budgetary procedures.

“Budgetary procedures” are procedures for a financial year relating
to—

(a) the authorisation of the amount of resources which may be
used or retained in that year by relevant persons or pursuant
to a relevant enactment,

(b) the authorisation of the amount which may be paid out of the
Welsh Consolidated Fund in that year to relevant persons or
for use pursuant to a relevant enactment, or

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 32



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

24

(c) the scrutiny of the use of the amounts so authorised under
paragraph (a) or (b) or of the exercise of borrowing powers by
the Welsh Ministers.

The following are “relevant persons”—
(a) the Welsh Ministers, 
(b) the First Minister, 
(c) the Counsel General, 
(d) the Assembly Commission,
(e) the Wales Audit Office, and
(f) the Public Service Ombudsman for Wales.

A “relevant enactment” is an enactment which provides for payment
out of the Welsh Consolidated Fund.

The reference to the use of resources is a reference to their
expenditure, consumption or reduction in value.”

(3) In Part 2, in paragraph 5 (provisions of GOWA 2006 which may not be
modified)—

(a) in sub-paragraph (2), in paragraph (a), after “78,” insert “120(2), 125 to
128,”;

(b) in sub-paragraph (2), after paragraph (a) insert—
“(aa) section 119 in so far as it relates to estimated payments

for a financial year into the Welsh Consolidated Fund or
to the Welsh Ministers, the First Minister or the Counsel
General;”;

(c) after sub-paragraph (4), insert—

 “(4A) Sub-paragraph (1), so far as it applies in relation to a
provision of Part 5 or section 159, does not apply to a
provision of an Act of the Assembly if—

(a) the provision is incidental to, or consequential on, a
provision of an Act of the Assembly relating to
budgetary procedures or devolved taxes, and

(b) the Secretary of State consents to the provision.

(4B) In sub-paragraph (4A), “budgetary procedures” has the same
meaning as in paragraph 13 of Part 1 of this Schedule.”

Reports

22 Reports on the implementation and operation of this Part

(1) The Secretary of State must—
(a) make reports on the implementation and operation of this Part (see

subsection (7)),
(b) lay a copy of each report before each House of Parliament, and
(c) send a copy of each report to the Welsh Ministers, who must lay a copy

of it before the Assembly.

(2) The Welsh Ministers must—
(a) make reports on the implementation and operation of this Part (see

subsection (7)),

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 33



Wales Bill
Part 2 — Finance

25

(b) lay a copy of each report before the Assembly, and
(c) send a copy of each report to the Secretary of State, who must lay a copy

of it before each House of Parliament.

(3) A report must be made under each of subsections (1) and (2)—
(a) before the first anniversary of the day on which this Act is passed, and
(b) thereafter, before each subsequent anniversary of that day until the

final reports are made under subsection (4).

(4) Final reports must be made on, or as soon as practicable after, the first
anniversary of the day on which the last of the provisions of this Part is
implemented (as determined under subsections (5) and (6)).

(5) A provision of this Part is implemented—
(a) if it is expressed as applying in relation to events occurring on or after

a particular day, on that day;
(b) if it is expressed as applying in relation to a tax year or financial year,

on the last day of that year;
(c) in any other case, on the day on which it comes into force.

(6) If, in the case of any provision, the application of subsection (5) gives more than
one day, the provision is implemented on the last of them.

(7) A report on the implementation and operation of this Part must include—
(a) a statement of the steps that have been taken, whether by the maker of

the report or by others, since the making of the previous report (or, in
the case of the first report, since the passing of this Act) towards
implementation of the provisions of this Part,

(b) a statement of the steps that the maker of the report proposes should be
taken, whether by the maker of the report or by others, towards the
implementation of the provisions of this Part,

(c) an assessment of the operation of the provisions of this Part that have
been implemented,

(d) an assessment of the operation of any other powers to devolve taxes to
the Assembly or to change the powers of the Welsh Ministers to borrow
money, and of any other changes affecting the provisions inserted or
amended by this Part,

(e) a statement of the effect of this Part on the amount of any payments
made by the Secretary of State under section 118 of GOWA 2006
(payments into the Welsh Consolidated Fund), and

(f) any other matters concerning the sources of revenue for the Welsh
Government that the maker of the report considers should be brought
to the attention of Parliament or the Assembly.

(8) Until the majority of the voters in a referendum held by virtue of section 11(1)
vote in favour of sections 8 and 9 (income tax provisions) coming into force, the
statements required by subsection (7)(a) and (b) do not include steps taken, or
proposed to be taken, towards the implementation of those provisions.

(9) In this section, references to “this Part” do not include—
(a) section 10 (amendments to the definition of a Scottish taxpayer), or
(b) section 21 (budgetary procedures).

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 34



Wales Bill
Part 3 — Miscellaneous

26

PART 3

MISCELLANEOUS

23 Local housing authorities: limits on housing revenue account debt

(1) Part 6 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 (housing finance) is
amended as follows.

(2) After section 76 insert—

“76A Limits on indebtedness

(1) The Treasury may from time to time make a determination providing
for the maximum amount of housing debt that may be held, in
aggregate, by local housing authorities in Wales that keep a Housing
Revenue Account.

(2) The Welsh Ministers may from time to time make a determination
providing for the calculation in relation to each such authority of— 

(a) the amount of housing debt that, at such time and on such
assumptions as the Welsh Ministers may determine, is to be
treated as held by the authority, and

(b) the maximum amount of such housing debt that the authority
may hold.

(3) The Welsh Ministers must make a determination under subsection (2)
in relation to each authority within the period of 6 months beginning
immediately after the day on which the Treasury makes a
determination under subsection (1).

(4) The aggregate of the amounts determined under subsection (2)(b) must
not exceed the amount determined under subsection (1).

(5) A local housing authority may not hold debt in contravention of a
determination under subsection (2)(b).

(6) A determination under this section may, in particular, provide for all or
part of an amount to be calculated in accordance with a formula or
formulae.

(7) A determination under this section may provide for assumptions to be
made in making a calculation whether or not those assumptions are, or
are likely to be, borne out by events.

(8) As soon as practicable after making a determination under subsection
(1), the Treasury must—

(a) send a copy of it to the Welsh Ministers, and
(b) lay a copy of it before the House of Commons.

(9) For the purposes of this section a debt is a “housing debt”, in relation to
a local housing authority, if—

(a) the debt is held by the authority in connection with the exercise
of its functions relating to houses and other property within its
Housing Revenue Account, and

(b) interest and other charges in respect of the debt are required to
be carried to the debit of that account.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 35



Wales Bill
Part 3 — Miscellaneous

27

76B Power to obtain information

(1) A local housing authority in Wales, and any officer or employee of a
local housing authority in Wales concerned with their housing
functions, must supply the Welsh Ministers with such information as
the Welsh Ministers may specify, either generally or in any particular
case, for the purpose of enabling the Welsh Ministers to exercise their
functions under section 76A.

(2) A local housing authority must supply the Welsh Ministers with such
certificates supporting the information required by them as they may
specify.

(3) If a local housing authority, or any officer or employee of a local
housing authority concerned with their housing functions, fails to
comply with subsection (1) or (2) before the end of such period as the
Welsh Ministers may specify, the Welsh Ministers may exercise their
functions under section 76A on the basis of such assumptions and
estimates as they see fit.”

(3) Section 87 (determinations and directions) is amended as follows.

(4) For “the Secretary of State” (in each place) substitute “the appropriate person”.

(5) After subsection (1) insert—

“(1A) Subsection (1)(b) does not apply to determinations under section
76A(2).”

(6) In subsection (2)—
(a) for “him” substitute “that person”;
(b) for “he” substitute “the appropriate person”.

24 The work of the Law Commission so far as relating to Wales

(1) The Law Commissions Act 1965 is amended as follows.

(2) In section 3(1) (functions of the Commissions), after paragraph (e) insert—
“(ea) in the case of the Law Commission, to provide advice and

information to the Welsh Ministers;”.

(3) In section 3A (reports on implementation of Law Commission proposals), after
subsection (6) insert—

“(7) This section does not require the Lord Chancellor to prepare reports on
Law Commission proposals on which the Welsh Ministers are required
to report (see section 3C).”

(4) After section 3B insert—

“3C Report on implementation of Law Commission proposals: Wales

(1) The Welsh Ministers must prepare a report each year on—
(a) the Law Commission proposals relating to Welsh devolved

matters that have been implemented since the preparation of
the previous report under this section;

(b) the Law Commission proposals relating to Welsh devolved
matters that have not been implemented as at the preparation of
the report.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 36



Wales Bill
Part 3 — Miscellaneous

28

(2) The report required under subsection (1)(b) must include—
(a) plans for dealing with any of the proposals described in that

paragraph;
(b) any decision not to implement any of those proposals taken

since the preparation of the previous report under this section;
(c) the reasons for any such decision.

(3) The Welsh Ministers must lay the report before the National Assembly
for Wales.

(4) The Welsh Ministers must prepare a report under this section—
(a) before the first anniversary of the day on which this section

comes into force, and
(b) thereafter, before each subsequent anniversary of that day.

(5) In the case of the first report, the references in subsections (1) and (2) to
the period since the preparation of the previous report are to be read as
references to the period since the coming into force of this section.

(6) If a decision not to implement a Law Commission proposal is dealt with
in a report under this section, subsection (1)(b) does not require a later
report to deal with the proposal so far as it is covered by that decision.

(7) If a decision not to implement a Law Commission proposal has been
taken before the coming into force of this section, subsection (1)(b) does
not require any report to deal with the proposal so far as it is covered
by that decision.

(8) In this section—
(a) “Law Commission proposal” means any proposal or

recommendation for the reform of the law that has been
published in a report by the Law Commission, and

(b) references to the implementation of a Law Commission
proposal are to its implementation in whole or in part.

(9) Whether a Law Commission proposal relates to Welsh devolved
matters is to be determined in accordance with section 3D(8).

3D Protocol about the Law Commission’s work: Wales

(1) The Welsh Ministers and the Law Commission may agree for the
purposes of this section a statement (a “protocol”) about the Law
Commission’s work relating to Welsh devolved matters.

(2) The protocol may include (among other things) provision about—
(a) the principles and methods to be applied in deciding the work

relating to such matters to be carried out by the Law
Commission and in the carrying out of that work;

(b) the assistance and information that the Welsh Ministers and the
Law Commission are to give to each other;

(c) the way in which the Welsh Ministers are to deal with Law
Commission proposals so far as they relate to Welsh devolved
matters.

(3) The Welsh Ministers and the Law Commission must from time to time
review the protocol and may agree to revise it.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

Tudalen y pecyn 37



Wales Bill
Part 3 — Miscellaneous

29

(4) The Law Commission must not agree the protocol (or any revision of it)
without the Lord Chancellor’s approval.

(5) The Welsh Ministers must lay the protocol (and any revision of it)
before the National Assembly for Wales.

(6) The Welsh Ministers and the Law Commission must have regard to the
protocol.

(7) “Law Commission proposal” has the meaning given in section 3C(8)(a).

(8) In this section and section 3C, the Law Commission’s work (including
any of their proposals) relates to Welsh devolved matters so far as it
relates to— 

(a) any matter provision about which would be within the
legislative competence of the National Assembly for Wales if it
were contained in an Act of the Assembly, or

(b) (so far as it is not within paragraph (a)), any matter functions
with respect to which are exercisable by the Welsh Ministers,
the First Minister for Wales, the Counsel General to the Welsh
Government or the National Assembly for Wales Commission.”

(5) In section 5(4) (expenses to be paid out of money provided by Parliament),
after “Parliament” insert “(except to the extent that those expenses are met by
the Welsh Ministers)”.

PART 4

GENERAL

25 Orders

   Any power to make an order under this Act is exercisable by statutory
instrument.

26 Interpretation

   In this Act—
“the Assembly” means the National Assembly for Wales;
“enactment” includes a Measure or Act of the Assembly and subordinate

legislation (within the meaning of the Interpretation Act 1978);
“financial year” means the 12 months ending with 31 March;
“GOWA 2006” means the Government of Wales Act 2006;
“modifications” includes amendments, repeals and revocations;
“tax year” means a year beginning on 6 April and ending on the following

5 April.

27 Power to make supplementary, consequential, etc provision

(1) The Treasury may by order make—
(a) such supplementary, incidental or consequential provision as appears

appropriate in connection with the provisions of Part 2, and
(b) such transitional, transitory or saving provision as appears appropriate

in connection with the coming into force of those provisions.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 38



Wales Bill
Part 4 — General

30

(2) An order under this section may make—
(a) different provision for different cases or classes of case or different

purposes;
(b) provision which applies generally or subject to specified exceptions or

only in relation to specific cases or classes of case.

(3) An order under this section may make modifications of this Act or of an
enactment passed or made before the passing of this Act or in the session in
which this Act is passed.

(4) A statutory instrument containing an order under this section which includes
provision modifying any provision of an Act or a Measure or Act of the
Assembly may not be made unless a draft of the instrument has been laid
before and approved by a resolution of the House of Commons.

(5) Any other statutory instrument containing an order under this section is
subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of the House of Commons.

28 Commencement

(1) This Part comes into force on the day on which this Act is passed.

(2) The following provisions come into force at the end of the period of 2 months
beginning with the day on which this Act is passed—

(a) Part 1;
(b) Part 2, except the referendum-related provisions and sections 19 and

20;
(c) section 24.

(3) Subsection (2)(b) is subject to the provision made in the following sections as
to how those sections have effect—

(a) sections 14, 15 and 16;
(b) sections 17 and 18.

(4) The “referendum-related provisions” are sections 8, 9 and 10(5), (6), (7)(a) and
(8)(a); they come into force in accordance with section 13 (commencement if
majority in favour at referendum).

(5) The following provisions come into force on such day as the Treasury may by
order appoint—

(a) section 19;
(b) section 23.

(6) An order under subsection (5) may appoint different days for different
purposes.

(7) Section 20 comes into force on the day on which section 121(1A) of GOWA 2006
(inserted by section 19) comes into force.

29 Extent and short title

(1) The amendments and repeals made by this Act have the same extent as the
enactments amended or repealed.

(2) Subject to that, this Act extends to the United Kingdom.

(3) This Act may be cited as the Wales Act 2014.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 39



Wales Bill
Schedule 1 — Referendum about commencement of income tax provisions

31

S C H E D U L E S

SCHEDULE 1 Section 11

REFERENDUM ABOUT COMMENCEMENT OF INCOME TAX PROVISIONS

Entitlement to vote

1 (1) The persons entitled to vote in a referendum held by virtue of section 11(1)
are those who would be entitled to vote in a general election of Assembly
members if one were held on the date of the poll at the referendum (as to
which, see section 12 of GOWA 2006).

(2) But an Order under section 11(1) may include provision for disregarding
alterations made in a register of electors after a date specified in the Order.

Conduct etc of referendum

2 (1) An Order under section 11(1) may make provision for and in connection
with the referendum which it causes to be held.

(2) Such an Order may, in particular, apply or incorporate, with or without
modifications, any enactment relating to referendums, elections or
donations. 

(3) In sub-paragraph (2) “donations” means anything which is or corresponds
to a donation within the meaning of Part 4 of PPERA 2000.

Referendum question and statement

3 (1) An Order under section 11(1)—
(a) must specify the question to be included on the ballot paper at the

referendum which it causes to be held, and
(b) may specify a statement to precede the question on that ballot paper.

(2) A question or statement specified under sub-paragraph (1) must be specified
in both English and Welsh.

(3) The Secretary of State must, no later than the time at which paragraph (b) of
section 104(4) of PPERA 2000 (report stating views as to intelligibility of
referendum question expressed by Electoral Commission) is complied with,
send to the First Minister a copy of the report laid before Parliament under
that paragraph.

(4) As soon as practicable after the First Minister receives a copy of a report
under sub-paragraph (3), the First Minister must lay a copy of the report
before the Assembly.

5

10

15

20

25

30

Tudalen y pecyn 40



Wales Bill
Schedule 1 — Referendum about commencement of income tax provisions

32

Date of referendum

4 (1) An Order under section 11(1) must specify the date of the poll at the
referendum which it causes to be held.

(2) The Minister may by order vary the date of the poll specified in such an
Order (including a date previously set by virtue of this sub-paragraph) if it
appears inappropriate for it to be held on that date.

(3) The date of the poll, as specified under sub-paragraph (1) or varied under
sub-paragraph (2), must not be within the period—

(a) beginning with the 25th working day before, and
(b) ending with the 25th working day after,

the date of the poll at an election, or at another referendum, which is held
throughout Wales.

(4) But sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if the date of the poll at the election or
other referendum is not known to the Minister at the time when—

(a) the recommendation is made to Her Majesty to make the Order (in
the case of an Order under section 11(1)), or

(b) the Minister makes the order (in the case of an order under sub-
paragraph (2)).

(5) No order may be made under sub-paragraph (2) without the consent of the
Welsh Ministers.

(6) A statutory instrument containing an order under sub-paragraph (2) is
subject to annulment in pursuance of a resolution of either House of
Parliament.

(7) In this paragraph, “working day” means any day other than—
(a) a Saturday or Sunday;
(b) a Christmas Eve, Christmas Day or Good Friday;
(c) a day which is a bank holiday under the Banking and Financial

Dealings Act 1971 in any part of the United Kingdom;
(d) a day appointed for public thanksgiving or mourning.

Referendum period

5 An Order under section 11(1) must determine the referendum period for the
purposes of Part 7 of PPERA 2000 in the case of the referendum which it
causes to be held.

Combination of polls

6 (1) An Order under section 11(1) may make provision for and in connection
with the combination of the poll at the referendum which it causes to be held
with that at an election or at another referendum (or both).

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) is subject to paragraph 4(3) (which limits the
circumstances in which the poll at a referendum held by virtue of section
11(1) can be combined with a poll at an election or another referendum).

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 41



Wales Bill
Schedule 1 — Referendum about commencement of income tax provisions

33

Encouraging voting

7 An Order under section 11(1) may authorise or require the Electoral
Commission to do things for the purpose of encouraging voting in the
referendum which it causes to be held (including imposing obligations or
conferring powers on counting officers or other persons).

Provision of information to voters

8 (1) This paragraph applies in relation to a referendum held by virtue of section
11(1) if the Electoral Commission have not, before the appropriate day,
designated an organisation under section 108 of PPERA 2000 (organisations
to whom assistance is available under section 110 of that Act) in relation to
each possible outcome of the referendum.

(2) The Electoral Commission may take such steps as they think appropriate to
provide such information for persons entitled to vote in the referendum as
the Commission think is likely to promote awareness among those persons
about the arguments for each answer to the referendum question.

(3) Information provided in pursuance of sub-paragraph (2) must be provided
by whatever means the Commission think is most likely to secure (in the
most cost-effective way) that the information comes to the notice of
everyone entitled to vote in the referendum.

(4) In this paragraph “the appropriate day” means—
(a) if an order is made under section 109(6) of PPERA 2000 (variation of

period for applications for designation under section 108 or period
for determination of applications or both) in the case of the
referendum, such day as that order specifies as the appropriate day,

(b) if no such order is made and one or more applications are made in
relation to each possible outcome of the referendum before the 29th
day of the referendum period, the 43rd day of that period, and

(c) in any other case in which no such order is made, the 29th day of the
referendum period.

Referendum material

9 Section 126 of PPERA 2000 (details to appear on referendum material) does
not apply to any material published for the purposes of a referendum held
by virtue of section 11(1) if the publication is required under or by virtue of
the Order that causes the referendum to be held.

Funding and accounts

10 An Order under section 11(1) must include provision for the funding of costs
of the referendum which it causes to be held (and may, in particular, include
provision for the costs to be charged on, or payable out of, the Welsh
Consolidated Fund).

11 An Order under section 11(1) must include provision as to the preparation
and audit of accounts relating to payments made by virtue of provision
included in the Order under paragraph 10.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 42



Wales Bill
Schedule 1 — Referendum about commencement of income tax provisions

34

No legal challenge to referendum result

12 (1) No court may entertain any proceedings for questioning the number of
ballot papers counted or votes cast in a referendum held by virtue of section
11(1) as certified by the Chief Counting Officer or a counting officer unless—

(a) the proceedings are brought by a claim for judicial review, and
(b) the claim form is filed before the end of the permitted period.

(2) “The permitted period” means the period of 6 weeks beginning with—
(a) the date on which the Chief Counting Officer or counting officer

gives a certificate as to the number of ballot papers counted and
votes cast in the referendum, or

(b) if the Chief Counting Officer or counting officer gives more than one
such certificate, the date on which the last is given.

Supplementary

13 An Order under section 11(1) may include provision creating criminal
offences.

Interpretation

14 (1) In this Schedule—
“the Minister” means the Secretary of State or the Lord President of the

Council;
“PPERA 2000” means the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums

Act 2000.

(2) Expressions used in this Schedule and in Part 7 of PPERA 2000 have the
same meaning in this Schedule as in that Part.

SCHEDULE 2 Section 15

WELSH TAX ON LAND TRANSACTIONS: CONSEQUENTIAL AMENDMENTS

Finance Act 1931

1 (1) Section 28 of the Finance Act 1931 (production to Commissioners of
instruments transferring land) is amended as follows.

(2) In subsection (3), at the end of paragraph (c) add “or a Welsh transaction”.

(3) After subsection (3A) insert—

“(3B) In subsection (3) “Welsh transaction” means the acquisition of—
(a) an estate, interest, right or power in or over land in Wales, or
(b) the benefit of an obligation, restriction or condition affecting

the value of any such estate, interest, right or power.”

Finance Act 2003

2 The Finance Act 2003 is amended as follows.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

Tudalen y pecyn 43



Wales Bill
Schedule 2 — Welsh tax on land transactions: consequential amendments

35

3 (1) Section 48 (power to prescribe other chargeable interests) is amended as
follows.

(2) After subsection (1) insert—

“(1A) See section 48A regarding land which is partly in England and partly
in Wales.” 

(3) In subsection (5), omit “and Wales”.

4 After section 48 insert—

“48A Interests, transactions and consideration where land in England and 
Wales

(1) This section sets out how this Part applies to a transaction which is
the acquisition of—

(a) an estate, interest, right or power in or over land, or
(b) the benefit of an obligation, restriction or condition affecting

the value of any such estate, interest, right or power,
where the land is partly in England and partly in Wales.

(2) The transaction is to be treated as if it were two transactions, one
relating to the land in England (“the English transaction”) and the
other relating to the land in Wales.

(3) The consideration for the transaction is to be apportioned between
those two transactions on a just and reasonable basis.

(4) Accordingly, the English transaction is to be treated as a land
transaction within the meaning of this Part (being the acquisition of
a chargeable interest relating to the land in England).

(5) But subsection (4) does not apply in the case of an exempt interest.”

5 In section 60 (compulsory purchase facilitating development), in subsections
(2)(a) and (5)(a), omit “and Wales”.

6 In section 73(5) (definition of mortgage for land acquired under alternative
property finance arrangements), in subsection (b)(i), omit “or Wales”.

7 In section 108(1A) (linked transactions), for “the land to which it relates is in
Scotland” substitute—

“(a) the transaction relates to land in Scotland, or
(b) the transaction relates to land in Wales (whether by virtue of

section 48A(2) or otherwise).”

8 In section 117(2) (meaning of “major interest” in England or Wales), omit “or
Wales”.

9 In section 121 (minor definitions), in the definition of “jointly entitled”, omit
“and Wales”.

10 In Schedule 7 (group relief), in paragraph 2B(4) (certain mortgage
arrangements not eligible for relief), omit “and Wales”.

11 In Schedule 9 (right to buy, shared ownership leases, etc), in paragraph
7(2)(b) (shared ownership trusts), omit “or Wales”.

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Tudalen y pecyn 44



Wales Bill
Schedule 2 — Welsh tax on land transactions: consequential amendments

36

12 In Schedule 10 (returns, enquiries, assessments and appeals), in paragraph
45(2)(a) (definition of “the relevant tribunal”), omit “and Wales”.

Finance Act 2009

13 Schedule 61 to the Finance Act 2009 (alternative finance investment bonds)
is amended in accordance with paragraphs 14 and 15.

14 (1) Paragraph 1 is amended as follows.

(2) In the definition of “effective date” in sub-paragraph (1), after “Scotland” (in
both places) insert “or Wales”.

(3) For sub-paragraph (1A) substitute—

 “(1A) In this Schedule “qualifying interest” means—
(a) in relation to land in England and Wales—

(i) an estate in fee simple absolute, or
(ii) a term of years absolute,

whether subsisting at law or in equity;
(b) in relation to land in Scotland—

(i) the interest of an owner of land, or
(ii) the tenant’s right over or interest in a property

subject to a lease;
(c) in relation to land in Northern Ireland—

(i) any freehold estate, or
(ii) any leasehold estate,

whether subsisting at law or in equity;
except that it does not include a lease for a term of years, or (in
Scotland) for a period, of 21 years or less.”

15 In the following provisions omit “and Wales”—
(a) paragraph 5(6) (in both places);
(b) paragraph 6(1)(a);
(c) paragraph 11(2);
(d) paragraph 12(1)(b);
(e) paragraph 18(5) and (6);
(f) paragraph 19(1)(a).

Scotland Act 2012

16 In Schedule 3 to the Scotland Act 2012, omit paragraph 31(4) (which inserts
paragraph 1(1A) of Schedule 61 to the Finance Act 2009).

5

10

15

20

25

30

Tudalen y pecyn 45



Bill 205 (xxxxxx) 55/3

Wales Bill

© Parliamentary copyright House of Commons 2014
This publication may be reproduced under the terms of the Open Parliament Licence, which is published at 

www.parliament.uk/site-information/copyright.

PUBLISHED BY AUTHORITY OF THE HOUSE OF COMMONS
LONDON — THE STATIONERY OFFICE LIMITED

Printed in the United Kingdom by
The Stationery Office Limited

£x.xx

xxxbarxxx

A

B I L L
[AS AMENDED IN COMMITTEE]

To make provision about elections to and membership of the National Assembly for
Wales; to make provision about the Welsh Assembly Government; to make provision
about the setting by the Assembly of a rate of income tax to be paid by Welsh
taxpayers and about the devolution of taxation powers to the Assembly; to make
related amendments to Part 4A of the Scotland Act 1998; to make provision about
borrowing by the Welsh Ministers; to make miscellaneous amendments in the law
relating to Wales; and for connected purposes.

Secretary David Jones
supported by

The Prime Minister, the Deputy Prime Minister, 
Mr Chancellor of the Exchequer,
Secretary Alistair Carmichael,

Secretary Theresa Villiers, Danny Alexander,
Mr David Gauke and Stephen Crabb.

Ordered, by The House of Commons,
 to be Printed, 6 May 2014.

Tudalen y pecyn 46



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 47

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 56

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Jane Hutt AC / AM
Y Gweinidog Cyllid 
Minister for Finance 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay
Caerdydd • Cardiff

CF99 1NA

English Enquiry Line  0845 010 3300
Llinell Ymholiadau Cymraeg  0845 010 4400

                Correspondence.Jane.Hutt@wales.gsi.gov.uk

Wedi’i argraffu ar bapur wedi’i ailgylchu (100%)                            Printed on 100% recycled paper

Eich cyf/Your ref 
Ein cyf/Our ref

Jocelyn Davies AC
Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Cyllid 
Cynulliad Cenedlaethol Cymru
Bae Caerdydd 
Caerdydd
CF99 1NA

Annwyl Jocelyn,

Diolch ichi am fy ngwahodd i gynorthwyo’r Pwyllgor gyda’i ymchwiliad i’r prosesau gorau ar 
gyfer ymdrin â’r gyllideb. 

Fel y mae’r Pwyllgor yn gwybod, mae Bil Cymru ar ei hynt drwy Senedd y DU ar hyn o bryd. 
Mae’r Bil hwn yn gweithredu’r rhan fwyaf o argymhellion adroddiad cyntaf Comisiwn Silk, 
gan gynnwys datganoli trethi, cynyddu pwerau benthyca a diwygio gweithdrefnau cyllidebol. 
Cynhaliwyd trafodaethau helaeth gyda Llywodraeth y DU yn ystod y broses hon, a 
chadarnhawyd cefnogaeth Llywodraeth Cymru i bob un o argymhellion Silk, yn ogystal ag i  
adroddiad Comisiwn Holtham lle bo hynny’n briodol.

Mae’r trafodaethau â Llywodraeth y DU yn dal i fynd rhagddynt wrth i Fil Cymru ddilyn ei 
hynt, er mwyn dod i ddeall holl effaith gweithredu’r newidiadau hyn. Rydym yn dal i geisio 
cynyddu hyblygrwydd Llywodraeth Cymru o fewn fframwaith ariannol sydd newydd ei 
ddatganoli. Ar yr un pryd, rydym yn sylweddoli y bydd angen sicrhau cydbwysedd o ran 
swyddogaeth ganolog barhaus Trysorlys Ei Mawrhydi. 

Mae’r Pwyllgor eisoes yn ymwybodol o’m hymrwymiad i adeiladu ar y gwaith blaenorol er 
mwyn gwneud ein cynlluniau gwario’n fwy tryloyw a’u cyflwyno’n well, gan archwilio’r 
cysylltiadau rhwng cyllidebau a chanlyniadau. Bydd y gwaith hwn yn parhau, ond datblygu 
fframwaith sy’n ‘addas i’r diben’, er mwyn adlewyrchu ein pwerau ariannol newydd yng 
nghyd-destun datganoli trethiant a benthyca, fydd y brif flaenoriaeth wrth inni ddiwygio ein 
trefniadau cyllidebol. 

Mae’n ddyddiau cynnar arnom o ran datblygu ein dull gweithredu, wrth i oblygiadau Bil 
Cymru ddod yn amlwg, ac mae’n hanfodol ein bod yn eu hystyried yn drwyadl ac yn 
brydlon. Rydym wedi hen arfer gweithio’n dda gyda’n gilydd, ac rwy’n croesawu ymchwiliad 
y Pwyllgor i’r maes hwn yn fawr iawn. Rwy’n edrych ymlaen at glywed barn y Pwyllgor. Fe 

1 Mai 2013

Tudalen y pecyn 58

Eitem 5



fyddaf, wrth reswm, yn barod i drafod y materion hyn ymhellach pan ddof i’r Pwyllgor ar 14 
Mai i roi tystiolaeth ynglŷn â’r ymchwiliad hwn ac ynglŷn â’r Cynnig Cydsyniad 
Deddfwriaethol ar Fil Cymru.

Yn gywir

Jane Hutt AC / AM

Y Gweinidog Cyllid
Minister for Finance

Tudalen y pecyn 59



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 60

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42



Mae cyfyngiadau ar y ddogfen hon

Tudalen y pecyn 68

Yn rhinwedd paragraff(au) ix o Reol Sefydlog 17.42


	Agenda
	3 Papurau i’w nodi
	4 Bil Cymru: Memorandwm Cydsyniad Deddfwriaethol
	Bil Cymru, (fel y'i diwygiwyd yn y Pwyllgor 7 Mai, 2014) (Saesneg yn unig)
	Legal Brief
	Brif Ymchwil

	5 Arfer gorau mewn prosesau cyllidebol: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 1
	Brif Ymchwil

	6 Arfer gorau mewn prosesau cyllidebol: Sesiwn dystiolaeth 2

